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Item 8.01. Other Events.

American Oncology Network, Inc. (the “Company”) is filing herewith as Exhibit 99.1 and 99.2, respectively, (i) its audited
 consolidated financial
statements as of December 31, 2022 and 2021 and for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2022 and (ii) its Management’s Discussion
and Analysis Of Financial Condition And Results Of Operations for such
periods, each of which were previously filed with the registration statement on
Form S-1/A, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 20, 2023.

Item 9.01 Financial Statements and Exhibits.

Exhibit
No.   Description

99.1
  Company’s audited consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2022 and 2021 and for each of the three years in the period

ended December 31, 2022
99.2   Company’s Management’s Discussion and Analysis Of Financial Condition And Results Of Operations
101.INS   XBRL Instance Document—the
instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags are embedded

within the Inline XBRL document.
101.SCH   Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
101.CAL   Inline XBRL
Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
101.DEF   Inline XBRL
Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
101.LAB   Inline XBRL
Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
101.PRE   Inline XBRL
Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
104   Cover Page Interactive Data File, formatted in Inline Extensible Business Reporting Language (iXBRL).
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting
Firm

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of American Oncology Network, Inc.

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of
American Oncology Network, Inc. and its
subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, and the related consolidated statements of
operations and comprehensive income (loss), of stockholders' equity and of cash flows for each of
the three years in
the period ended December 31, 2022, including the related notes (collectively referred to as the “consolidated
financial statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects,
the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, and the results of its operations and its
cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2022 in conformity with accounting
principles
generally accepted in the United States of America.

Change in Accounting Principle

As discussed in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements,
the Company changed the manner in which it
accounts for leases in 2022.

Basis for Opinion

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of
 the Company’s management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We
are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
 States)
(PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal
securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the
PCAOB.

We conducted our audits of these consolidated financial statements
 in accordance with the standards of the
PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to
error or fraud.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of
 material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such
procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and
disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial
 statements. We
believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Nashville, Tennessee 

April 27, 2023, except for the effects of the reverse recapitalization as disclosed
in Note 2, as to which the date is

November 17, 2023

We have served as the Company’s or its predecessor's auditor since 2020.
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AMERICAN ONCOLOGY NETWORK, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

($ in thousands, except share data)

  As of December 31,

  2022 2021

Assets    

Current assets    

Cash and cash equivalents $ 26,926 $ 27,354

Short-term marketable securities 9,851 —

Restricted cash — 5,000

Patient accounts receivable, net 136,098 111,226

Inventories 36,476 34,529

Other receivables 28,201 25,078

Prepaids expenses and other current assets 2,670 3,277

Current portion of notes receivable – related parties 1,797 1,812

Total current assets 242,019 208,276

Property and equipment, net 31,980 32,648

Operating right of use assets, net(1) 43,724 —

Notes receivable – related parties 2,076 3,151

Other assets 5,199 3,111

Goodwill and intangibles, net 1,230 1,112

Total assets $326,228 $248,298

Liabilities and Members’ Equity    

Current liabilities    

Accounts payable(2) $106,495 $ 92,908

Accrued compensation related costs 7,466 8,901

Accrued other 17,800 13,792

Medicare advance payment — 3,742

Current portion operating lease liability(3) 9,177 —

Total current liabilities 140,938 119,343

Commitments and contingencies (Note 16)

Long-term portion operating lease liability(4) 37,224 —

Long-term debt, net 80,301 63,694

Other long-term liabilities 5,749 5,717

Total liabilities 264,212 188,754

Stockholders’ equity    

Class A units; 19,495,376 units outstanding at December 31, 2022 and 2021 7,725 7,725

Class A-1 units; 1,842,520 units outstanding at December 31, 2022 and 2021 28,500 28,500

Class B units; 4,703,628 units outstanding at December 31, 2022 and 2021 80 80

Accumulated other comprehensive loss (117) —

Retained earnings 25,828 23,239

Total members’ equity 62,016 59,544

Total liabilities and members’ equity $326,228 $248,298

(1)



— Includes related party operating
lease right-of-use assets, net of $13,077 at December 31, 2022
(2)



— Includes amounts due to related
party of $102,113 and $88,799
at December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively

(3)



— Includes related party current
portion of operating lease liabilities of $1,836 at December 31, 2022
(4)



— Includes related party long-term
operating lease liabilities of $11,631 at December 31, 2022

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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AMERICAN ONCOLOGY NETWORK, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
($ in thousands, except share and per share data)

  Year Ended December 31,

  2022 2021 2020

Revenue      

Patient service revenue, net $1,137,932 $938,242 $714,678

HHS grant income — — 6,841

Other revenue 11,738 5,505 3,224

Total revenue 1,149,670 943,747 724,743

Costs and expenses      

Cost of revenue(1)(2) 1,054,217 865,788 658,638

General and administrative expenses 89,887 77,048 44,033

Total costs and expenses 1,144,104 942,836 702,671

Income from operations 5,566 911 22,072

Other income (expense)      

Interest expense (3,417) (1,419) (1,116)

Interest income 151 127 32

Other income, net 289 736 180

Income before income taxes 2,589 355 21,168

Income tax expense (benefit) — 460 (783)

Net income (loss) before noncontrolling interest $ 2,589 $ (105) $ 21,951

Net income (loss) attributable to Legacy AON Shareholders
prior to
the reverse recapitalization $ 2,589 $ (105) $ 21,951

Net loss attributable to Class A Common Stockholders $ — $ — $ —

Earnings (loss) per Class A Common Stock:      

 basic and diluted $ ​— $ ​— $ ​—

Weighted average Class A Common Stock outstanding:      

 basic and diluted — — —

Other comprehensive loss:      

Unrealized losses on marketable securities (117) — —

Other comprehensive loss (117) — —

Comprehensive income (loss) $ 2,472 $ (105) $ 21,951

(1)



Includes related party inventory
expense of $922,148, $718,675,
and $567,782 for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020,
respectively

(2)



Includes related party rent expense
of $2,643, $2,319,
and $6,845 for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, respectively

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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AMERICAN ONCOLOGY NETWORK, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

($ and shares in thousands)

  Class A Class A-1
Class B
Units

Class B
$

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Loss

Retained
Earnings

Total
Members’

Equity  Units $ Units $

Balances at December 31,
2019 19,495 $7,725 — $ — 3,218 $40 $ — $ 1,393 $ 9,158

Issuance of Class A-1 units,
net of issuance costs     1,843 28,500         28,500

Net income — — — — — — — 21,951 21,951

Equity-based compensation — — — — — 20 — — 20

Balances at December 31,
2020 19,495 7,725 1,843 28,500 3,218 60 — 23,344 59,629

Net income — — — — — — — (105) (105)

Equity-based compensation — — — — 1,485 20 — — 20

Balances at December 31,
2021 19,495 7,725 1,843 28,500 4,704 80 — 23,239 59,544

Net income — — — — — — — 2,589 2,589

Other comprehensive loss — — — — — — (117) — (117)

Balances at December 31,
2022 19,495 $7,725 1,843 $28,500 4,704 $80 $(117) $25,828 $62,016

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.



F-5





AMERICAN ONCOLOGY NETWORK, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

($ in thousands, except share data)

  Year Ended December 31,

  2022 2021 2020

Cash flows from operating activities      

Net income (loss) $ 2,589 $ (105) $ 21,951

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash (used
in) provided
by operating activities      

Depreciation and amortization 6,719 6,079 3,656

Amortization of debt issuance costs 627 363 19

Amortization of right-of-use assets(1) 10,364 — —

Loss on extinguishment of debt financing costs — 80 —

Equity-based compensation — 20 20

Deferred income taxes — 786 (1,178)

Gain on sale of equipment (121) (79) —

Deferred rent — 1,293 651

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:      

Patient accounts receivable, net (24,873) (30,803) (35,485)

Inventories(2) (1,947) (10,260) (6,272)

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 607 (1,883) (481)

Other receivables (3,123) (8,095) (6,121)

Other assets (1,748) (1,021) (550)

Accounts payable(3) 14,077 21,679 34,000

Accrued compensation related costs (1,435) 2,093 3,840

Accrued other 4,008 5,568 5,271

Operating lease liability(4) (10,485) — —

Medicare advance payment (3,742) (13,447) 17,189

Other long-term liabilities 1,699 1,394 735

Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities (6,784) (26,338) 37,245

Cash flows from investing activities      

Purchases of property and equipment (7,193) (8,322) (12,221)

Disposals of property and equipment 2,084 683 —

Purchase of marketable securities (12,619) — —

Proceeds from sales of marketable securities 2,652 — —

Acquisition of physician practices (5) (3,215) (933)

Issuance of notes receivable — related parties (243) (1,263) (5,478)

Collections on notes receivable — related parties 1,333 1,423 3,958

Net cash used in investing activities (13,991) (10,694) (14,674)

Cash flows from financing activities      

Repayments of revolving line of credit — (10,000) (12,061)

Borrowings on long-term debt 16,250 65,000 12,518

Repayments of long-term debt — (27,098) (12,522)

Issuance of class A-1 units, net of issuance costs — — 28,500

Cash paid for deferred offering costs (206) — —

Repayments on finance and capital leases (426) (205) —

Cash paid for debt financing costs (271) (1,153) (177)

Net cash provided by financing activities 15,347 26,544 16,258

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents and
restricted
cash (5,428) (10,488) 38,829

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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  Year Ended December 31,

  2022 2021 2020

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash      

Beginning of year 32,354 42,842 4,013

End of year $26,926 $32,354 $42,842

Supplemental consolidated cash flow information      

Cash paid for interest $ 2,184 $ 1,378 $ 1,097

Cash paid for income taxes — — 335

Supplemental noncash investing and financing activities      

Changes in accounts payable for capital additions to
property and equipment 623 890 302

Assumed capital lease liabilities in acquisition of physician practice — 1,097 —

Reduction of notes receivable as consideration for purchase
of physician
practice assets — — 654

Note payable for acquisition of physician practice — — 621

Payables for deferred offering costs 133 — —

Disposal of property and equipment in exchange for reduction
in finance
lease liability 72 — —

(1)



Includes related party amortization
of operating right-of-use assets of $2,059 for the year ended December 31, 2022
(2)



Includes changes in related party
balances of ($1,850), ($11,848)
, and ($6,322) for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020,
respectively

(3)



Includes changes in related party
 balances of $13,314, $23,309,
 and $37,744 for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020,
respectively

(4)



Includes changes in related party
balance of ($1,995) for the year ended December 31, 2022

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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AMERICAN ONCOLOGY NETWORK, INC.
 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
 

($ in thousands, except share data)

1.  Business

American Oncology Network, Inc. (“AON”, “New AON”, “AON Inc.”, or
 the “Company”), through its
subsidiary company and variable interest entities (together, “its subsidiaries”), is an alliance of physicians and
seasoned healthcare leaders who provide comprehensive oncology services through 24 oncology practices located in
Arkansas, Louisiana, Indiana, Virginia, Ohio, Nevada, Iowa, Missouri, Washington, North Carolina, Michigan,
Maryland,
South Carolina, Arizona, and Georgia. The Company also provides expertise in drug procurement and
payor contracting, along with practice diversification through centralized laboratory and pathology services, as well
as specialty pharmacy
 services. During the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020, respectively, the
Company entered into affiliation agreements with or acquired the following oncology practices. The
operations of
the practices that were acquired have been included in the Company’s consolidated financial statements since the
date of acquisition. The Company intends to continue to pursue additional purchases of physician practices in
addition
to seeking out new affiliation relationships.

2020 2021 2022

  State
Effective

Date   State
Effective

Date   State
Effective

Date

Location 12 North
Carolina

4/1/2020 Location 18 Maryland 3/1/2021 Location 23 Arizona 1/1/2022

Location 13 Maryland 5/1/2020 Location 19 Arizona 4/1/2021 Location 24 Georgia(a) 1/1/2022

Location 14 Virginia 5/1/2020 Location 20 Washington 5/1/2021 Location 25 Louisiana(a) 1/17/2022

Location 15 Michigan 7/1/2020 Location 21 Georgia(a) 8/1/2021 Location 26 Georgia(a) 4/5/2022

Location 16 Washington 8/1/2020 Location 22 Arizona 11/1/2021 Location 27 Georgia(a) 5/1/2022

Location 17 Georgia and
South

Carolina

9/1/2020       Location 28 Georgia(a) 9/20/2022

(a)



The Company entered into
affiliation agreements with the physicians for these respective practices. The Company evaluated each of the
affiliation agreements and determined that the transactions did not represent a business combination.

2.  Reverse Recapitalization

Business Combination Agreement

Digital Transformation Opportunities Corp. (“DTOC”), American
 Oncology Network, LLC (“AON LLC”),
GEF AON Holdings Corp. (“AON Class C Preferred Investor”), and DTOC Merger Sub, Inc., a direct, wholly
owned subsidiary of DTOC (“Merger Sub”) entered into a Business Combination Agreement (the “Business
Combination Agreement”), dated as of June 14, 2023 (which further amended and restated the Business
Combination Agreement entered into by DTOC and AON as of October 5, 2022, and amended and restated on
January 6, 2023, and April 27, 2023),
 pursuant to which, among other transactions, on September 20, 2023 (the
“Closing Date”), DTOC and AON undertook a series of transactions (the “Reverse Recapitalization” or the
“Business Combination”) resulting in the organization of the combined
post-business combination company as an
umbrella partnership C corporation, in which substantially all of the assets and the business of the combined
company are held by AON LLC, and DTOC became a member of AON LLC. In connection with the closing
of the
Business Combination (“the Closing”), DTOC changed its name to “American Oncology Network, Inc.”. The
Business Combination was completed on September 20, 2023.

As a result of, and in connection with, the Closing, among other
things, (i) AON LLC amended and restated its
operating agreement (the “Amended and Restated AON LLC Agreement”) to reclassify its existing Class A units,
Class A-1 units and Class B units into a single class of AON LLC common units (“AON LLC
Common Units”) that
can be exchanged on a one-to-one basis for shares of New AON Class A common stock (“New AON Class A
Common Stock”)
and its existing AON LLC Class C units into AON LLC Series A preferred units (“AON LLC
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Series A Preferred Units”); (ii) AON LLC converted profit pool units of certain of
AON LLC’s subsidiaries into an
equal number of AON LLC Common Units and shares of New AON Class B common stock (“New AON Class B
Common Stock”), which together are exchangeable into shares of New AON Class A Common Stock (together with
the New
AON Class B Common Stock, the “New AON Common Stock”); (iii) New AON amended and restated its
charter (the “Charter”) to provide for (a) the conversion of all existing shares of DTOC Class B common stock into
shares of New AON Class A Common
Stock on a one-to-one basis, (b) amendment of the terms of New AON Class
B Common Stock to provide holders voting rights but no
economic rights and (c) designation of a new series of
New AON preferred stock as Series A convertible preferred stock (the “New AON Series A Preferred Stock” or
“Series A Preferred Stock”) with such rights and preferences as provided for in the
certificate of designation of the
New Aon Series A Preferred Stock (the “New AON Series A Certificate of Designation”); and (iv) among other
things, (a) AON LLC issued common units to New AON in exchange for a combination of cash and shares of
New
AON Class B Common Stock and warrants to acquire shares of New AON Class B Common Stock (the “Class B
Prefunded Warrants”), (b) New AON was admitted as a member of AON LLC, (c) AON LLC distributed shares of
New AON Class B common stock or
Class B Prefunded Warrants, as applicable, to AON LLC equity holders, (d)
New AON reserved a specified number of additional shares of New AON Class A Common Stock after the Closing
for issuance to eligible participants, (e) Merger Sub merged with
 and into the AON Class C Preferred Investor
whereby the separate existence of Merger Sub ceased and New AON issued a number of shares of New AON Series
A Preferred Stock equal to the number of AON LLC Series A preferred units held by the AON
Class C Preferred
Investor to AEA Growth Management LP, the parent of AON Class C Preferred Investor (“AEA Growth”) in
exchange for all the shares of common stock held by AEA Growth in the AON Class C Preferred Investor (the “First
Step”), (f)
 promptly after the First Step, the AON Class C Preferred Investor merged with and into New AON
whereby the separate existence of the AON Class C Preferred Investor ceased and New AON held all the AON LLC
Series A preferred units and (g) from and
 after the Closing (but subject to lock-up restrictions), the AON LLC
common equity holders (other than New AON), referred to herein as “Legacy AON Shareholders” (former AON
LLC Class A, Class A-1, and Class B unit holders), will have the right
(but not the obligation) to exchange AON
LLC Common Units together with an equal number of shares of New AON Class B Common Stock (whether held
directly or indirectly through Class B Prefunded Warrants) for shares of New AON Class A Common Stock.

In addition, in connection with the Closing, DTOC completed the
offer to the holders of AON LLC Class B-1
units to exchange their AON LLC Class B-1 units for such number of newly issued shares of New AON Class A
Common Stock equal to the ratio set forth in the Business Combination Agreement (such offer, the
 “Exchange
Offer”). DTOC and AON LLC solicited consents from the holders of AON LLC Class B-1 units to make certain
amendments to the terms of the awards and the unit grant agreements pursuant to which the AON LLC Class B-1
units were granted,
 which provided for the automatic exchange, as of immediately prior to the adoption of the
Amended and Restated AON LLC Agreement, of all outstanding AON LLC Class B-1 units into shares of New
AON Class A Common Stock (collectively, the “Proposed
Amendments”). The requisite number of holders of Class
B-1 units provided their consent to the Proposed Amendments, and as a result, in connection with the Closing, all
AON LLC Class B-1 units were exchanged for an aggregate of 1,047,343 shares of New AON Class A Common
Stock.

Reverse Recapitalization

AON LLC merged with DTOC, with AON LLC surviving the Merger. AON LLC
is governed by a board of
managers composed of three (3) persons that were designated by New AON and two (2) persons that were
designated by holders of a majority of the AON LLC Common Units, held by members of AON LLC other than
New AON. Management
determined AON LLC was not a variable interest entity (Refer to Note 2), and as result,
identified AON LLC as the accounting acquirer of the Merger in accordance ASC Topic 805. Management
concluded that AON LLC was the accounting acquirer due to
 (i) the Legacy AON Shareholders, defined as the
former AON Class A, Class A-1, and Class B unit holders, receiving the largest portion of the voting rights in the
combined company, New AON, (ii) significantly all of the Legacy AON Shareholders
retained their equity interest
as stockholders in New AON, (iii)  AON LLC’s operations prior to the Merger comprising the only ongoing
operations of New AON, (iv) the Legacy AON Shareholders have the right to appoint a majority of the directors of
New AON, (v) the executive management of AON LLC will become the executive management of New AON and
(vi) AON LLC is significantly larger than New AON in terms of revenue, total assets, and employees. Therefore, the
Merger was accounted for as a
reverse recapitalization (the “Reverse Recapitalization”), with no goodwill or other
intangible assets recorded, in accordance

F-9





with ASC Topic 805. New AON was treated as the “acquired” company for financial
 reporting purposes, and for
accounting purposes, the Reverse Recapitalization was treated as the equivalent of AON LLC issuing stock for the
net assets of New AON, accompanied by a recapitalization.

The Company recasted the units outstanding related to the historical
AON LLC Class A, Class A-1, and Class
B units prior to the Reverse Recapitalization (“Historical AON LLC Equity”) as common equity of New AON,
equal to the Per Company Class Unit Exchange Ratio, pursuant to the Business Combination Agreement. The
Per
Company Unit Exchange Ratio at which AON LLC Class A units and Class A-1 units were reclassified is equal to
2,524 AON Common
 Units. The Per Company Unit Exchange Ratio at which AON LLC Class B units were
reclassified varied depending on participation threshold, and is equal to 2,524,
 2,453, or 1,976, AON
 Common
Units. The Per Company Unit Exchange Ratio at which Class C units were reclassified is equal to 2,705 AON LLC
Series A
Preferred Units. Refer to Note 12 for Stockholders’ Equity and Note 18 for Earnings (Loss) per Share for
additional disclosures updated to give effect to the Reverse Recapitalization.

3.  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Basis of
Presentation

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been
 prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”). The consolidated financial statements
include the accounts of the Company, its wholly owned subsidiary American Oncology Network, LLC,
American
Oncology Management Company, LLC (“AOMC”), and its consolidated variable interest entities (“VIEs”),
American Oncology Partners, P.A. (“AON Partners”), American Oncology Partners of Maryland, P.A. (“Partners of
Maryland”) and AON Central
 Services, LLC (“Central Services”). AON Central Services, LLC was established
during 2022; however, as of December 31, 2022, it had no activity.

For the year ended December 31, 2020, 2021, and 2022, these
 consolidated financial statements present the
consolidated results of operations, comprehensive income (loss), cash flows and changes in equity of AON LLC and
its wholly-owned subsidiaries and variable interest entities. The consolidated balance
sheet as of December 31, 2022
and December 31, 2021, presents the financial condition of AON LLC and its wholly-owned subsidiaries and
variable interest entities. All significant intercompany accounts, related-party balances and transactions
between the
entities have been eliminated in consolidation.

The Company accounts for American Oncology Network, LLC, AON
Partners, and Partners of Maryland in
accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 810,
Consolidations. The Company determines whether it has a controlling financial interest in an entity
 by first
evaluating whether the entity is a VIE. A VIE is broadly defined as an entity that has any of the following three
characteristics: (i) the equity investment at risk is insufficient to finance the entity’s activities without additional
subordinated financial support; (ii) substantially all of the entity’s activities either involve or are conducted on behalf
of an investor that has disproportionately few voting rights; or (iii) the equity investors as a group lack any of the
following, the power through voting or similar rights to direct the activities of the entity that most significantly
impact the entity’s economic performance, the obligation to absorb the expected losses of the entity, or the right to
receive the
expected residual returns of the entity. The Company consolidates a VIE if it has both the power to direct
the activities of the VIE that most significantly impact the VIE’s economic performance and an obligation to absorb
losses or the right to
receive benefits that could potentially be significant to the VIE. Management performs ongoing
reassessments of whether changes in the facts and circumstances regarding the Company’s involvement with a VIE
will cause the consolidation conclusion
to change. Changes in consolidation status are applied prospectively, if any.

AON LLC has contractual relationships with AON Partners and Partners
of Maryland and the physician owners
through management service agreements (“MSAs”) and other contractual agreements to provide all practice
management services outside of medical services provided by the physicians. In addition, despite not
being required
by the contractual relationships, AON LLC regularly provides funding to support AON Partners and Partners of
Maryland’s operations and acquisitions of physician practices. The Company has concluded that AON Partners and
Partners of
Maryland are both VIEs in which AON LLC has the characteristics of a controlling financial interest and
is deemed to be the primary beneficiary. The variable interest subjects the Company to all potential losses in the
entities and, therefore,
requires AON LLC, and in turn the Company, to consolidate the results of AON Partners and
Partners of Maryland in its consolidated financial statements. As noted above, Central Services is also a VIE;
however, there was no activity during 2022.
Refer to Note 4 for further information on the VIEs.
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Accounting Estimates and Assumptions

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP
requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and
 expenses during the
reporting periods. Significant estimates and assumptions are involved in the calculation of the Company’s allowance
for contractual adjustments and allowances for uncollectible on accounts receivable, liabilities for provider
compensation, and accrued insurance claim reserves. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Segments

Operating segments are identified as components of an enterprise
 about which separate discrete financial
information is available for evaluation by the chief operating decision-maker (the “CODM”). The Company’s
CODM is its chief executive officer who reviews financial information together with certain
 operating metrics
principally to make decisions about how to allocate resources and to measure the Company’s performance. The
Company has one
 operating segment and one reportable segment that are structured around the organizational
management of oncology practice operations.
All revenue and assets are in the United States.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognized under Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”)
 2014-09 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (“Topic 606”). The Company determines the transaction price based upon standard charges for goods and
services with anticipated consideration due from
 patients, third-party payors (including health insurers and
government agencies) and others. The Company’s revenue is primarily derived from patient service revenues, which
encompass oncology services provided during patient visits and shipments
of pharmacy prescriptions. Performance
obligations for the Company’s services provided to patients and most procedures, are satisfied over the time of visit
which is the same day services are performed. Performance obligations relating to
pharmacy revenue are considered
fully satisfied at a point in time upon the customer receiving delivery of the prescription. Accordingly, the Company
does not anticipate a significant amount of revenue from performance obligations satisfied (or
partially satisfied) in
previous periods, and any such revenue recognized during the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020 was
immaterial.

Additionally, the Company does not expect to recognize material
revenue in the future related to performance
obligations that are unsatisfied (or partially satisfied) as of December 31, 2022 and 2021. Approximately $818.5
million, $683.0 million, and $542.0
 million of the Company’s revenues are generated from services performed
during patient visits with the remainder primarily generated from shipments of pharmacy prescriptions for the years
ended December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020, respectively.

As services are performed and prescriptions are shipped, billing
occurs for services rendered and prescriptions
shipped less discounts provided to uninsured patients and contractual adjustments to third-party payors based upon
prospectively determined rates and discounted charges. Payment is requested at the
time of service for self-paying
patients and for patients covered by third-party payors that are responsible for paying deductibles and coinsurance.

The Company monitors revenue and receivables to prepare estimated
contractual allowances for the anticipated
differences between billed and reimbursed amounts. Payments from third-party payors and Government programs
including Medicare and Medicaid may be subject to audit and other retrospective adjustments.
Such amounts are
considered on an estimated basis when net patient revenue is recorded and are adjusted as final adjustments are
determined. For the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020, such resulting historic adjustments have been
immaterial to the consolidated financial statements.

In assessing who is the principal in providing patient services and
 pharmacy prescriptions, the Company
considered who controls the provision of services and prescriptions. The Company has determined they are acting as
a principal in these relationships.

In April 2022, the Company entered into a long-term arrangement to
sponsor and manage a clinical trial. The
Company subsequently contracted with a third-party to provide the clinical research services and is the principal in
this arrangement. The performance of clinical research services are considered a single
 performance obligation
because the Company provides a highly-integrated service. Revenue is recognized for the single performance
obligation over time due to the Company’s right to payment for work performed to date. The contract provides for
invoices based on predetermined milestones.
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The Company uses the cost-to-cost measure of progress for the
Company’s contract because it best depicts the
transfer of control to the customer as the performance obligation is fulfilled. For this method, the Company
compares the contract costs incurred to date to the estimated total contract costs through
completion. As part of the
client proposal and contract negotiation process, the Company develops a detailed project budget for the direct costs
and reimbursable costs based on the scope of the work, the complexity of the study, the geographical
 location
involved and the Company’s historical experience. The estimated total contract costs at the project level are
reviewed and revised periodically throughout the life of the contract, with adjustments to revenue resulting from
such
revisions being recorded on a cumulative basis in the period in which the revisions are identified. Contract
costs consist primarily of direct labor and other reimbursable project-related costs such as travel, third-party vendor
costs and
investigator fees. The Company establishes pricing based on the Company’s internal pricing guidelines,
discount agreements, if any, and negotiations with the client. The transaction price is the contractually defined
amount. For the year ended
December 31, 2022, the Company recognized revenue of $4.3 million related to the
clinical trial which is included within other revenue.

In March 2020, the World Health Organization determined the
 resulting outbreak of COVID-19, the disease
caused by this novel coronavirus, to be a pandemic. The pandemic is disrupting supply chains worldwide as national
and local governments implement measures intended to slow the spread of COVID-19, with
production and sales
across a range of industries impacted in different ways.

On March 27, 2020, the United States enacted the Coronavirus Aid,
 Relief and Economic Security Act, or
CARES Act. The CARES Act is an emergency economic stimulus package that includes spending and tax breaks to
strengthen the United States economy and fund a nationwide effort to curtail the effect of COVID-19.
The CARES
Act provides sweeping tax changes in response to the COVID-19 pandemic, some of the more significant provisions
include removal of certain limitations on utilization of net operating losses, increasing the loss carryback period for
certain losses to five years, increasing the ability to deduct interest expense, and deferring social security payments,
as well as amending certain provisions of the previously enacted Tax Cuts and Jobs Act.

In April 2020, the Company received approximately $24.0 million of cash from government stimulus programs
designed to assist small businesses during the pandemic. Of this amount, $17.2 million in advances included on the
Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2020, were received under the Centers for Medicare &
Medicaid
Services (CMS) accelerated and advance payment program which is for services to be rendered and reimbursed
under Medicare programs. In October 2020, as determined by the Continuing Appropriations Act, 2021 and Other
Extensions Act, the
 recoupment period would begin one year after the date the advance payment was received,
therefore recoupment began in April 2021. At December 31, 2022 and 2021, the outstanding liability was $0 and
$3.7 million, respectively. Revenue recognized in the
reporting period that was included in the Medicare advance
payment balance at January 1, 2022 and January 1, 2021 was $3.7 million and
 $13.5 million, respectively. The
remaining $6.8 million of the $24.0 million received was in the form of a grant from the Department of Health
and
Human Services and does not require repayment. As an accounting policy election, the Company utilized ASC 958
by analogy to recognize funds received under the CARES Act from the Provider Relief Fund as revenue, given no
direct authoritative
 guidance is available to for-profit organizations to recognize revenue for government
contributions and grants.

The Company has a system and estimation process for recording
 Medicare net patient service revenue and
estimated recoupments as it relates to value-based care (“VBC”) revenue included in patient service revenue on the
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss). The Company’s VBC
 revenue is
primarily generated through its participation in the CMS Oncology Care Model (“OCM”) which is an episode-based
payment model to promote high-quality cancer care. Participants enter six-month episode periods, and the Company
bills a
monthly fee during the six-month period based on a fixed rate per participant per month and the total number
of participants. Certain quality and compliance metrics are tracked as part of the program and submitted to CMS at
the end of the episode
period which may result in recoupment of funds. The Company estimates the recoupment
amount by developing a recoupment percentage for each period based on historical known recoupment from CMS
and applies the recoupment percentage against total
fees for the period. Based on the estimate, the Company accrues
a liability representing the expected final recoupments based on historical settlement trends.

Short-term Marketable Securities

Investments in marketable securities consist of corporate bonds and
 U.S. Treasury securities. Management
determines the appropriate classification of investments at the time of purchase and reevaluates such determination
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at each balance sheet date. Marketable securities are classified as
available-for-sale and are carried at fair value in
the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The marketable securities are classified as short- term based on management’s
intent to convert such securities within one year and the ability to convert them
within two to three days.

The Company evaluates its investments to assess whether those with
unrealized loss positions were other than
temporarily impaired. Impairments were considered to be other than temporary if they were related to deterioration
in credit risk or if it is likely the Company will sell the securities before the
recovery of their cost basis. Realized
gains and losses and declines in value judged to be other than temporary were determined based on the specific
identification method and reported in Interest income in the Consolidated Statements of
 Operations and
Comprehensive Income (Loss).

Cost of Revenue

Cost of services primarily includes chemotherapy drug costs,
clinician salaries and benefits, medical supplies
and clinical occupancy costs. Clinicians include oncologists, advanced practice providers such as physician
assistants and nurse practitioners, and registered nurses. Specialty pharmacy costs
primarily include the cost of oral
medications dispensed from the specialty pharmacy including overhead costs for running a free-standing pharmacy
and shipping costs to patients.

Business Combinations

The Company evaluates acquired practices in accordance with ASU
 2017-01, Business Combinations
(Topic 805) — Clarifying the Definition of a Business. This standard clarifies the definition of a business with the
objective of adding guidance to assist entities with
 evaluating whether transactions should be accounted for as
acquisitions or disposals of assets or businesses. Because substantially all of the value of each acquired practice did
not relate to a similar group of assets and as each acquired
practice contained both inputs and processes necessary to
provide economic benefits to the Company, it was determined that each acquisition represents a business
combination. Therefore, the transactions have been accounted for using the
acquisition method of accounting, which
requires, with limited exceptions, that assets acquired, and liabilities assumed be recognized at their estimated fair
values as of the acquisition date. Any excess of the consideration transferred over the
estimated fair values of the net
assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. Transaction costs related to business combinations are expensed in the
period in which they are incurred.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investments with a maturity
of three months or less when purchased
to be cash equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents include cash or deposits with financial institutions and deposits in
highly liquid money market securities. Deposits with financial institutions are insured
 by the Federal Deposit
Insurance Corporation up to certain defined limits. Bank deposits at times may exceed federally insured limits. The
Company has not experienced any losses in these accounts.

Restricted Cash

The Company maintains certain cash balances restricted as to
withdrawal or use and presented separately from
Cash and cash equivalents on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Restricted cash includes amounts held as collateral
related to the Company’s PNC Loan Facility (Note 11).

The following table provides a reconciliation of cash, cash
equivalents and restricted cash reported within the
Consolidated Balance Sheets that sum to the total of the same cash amounts shown in the Consolidated Statements
of Cash Flows.

  As of December 31,

  2022 2021

Cash and cash equivalents $26,926 $27,354

Restricted cash — 5,000

Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash shown in the statements of cash
flow $26,926 $32,354

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable from patients are carried at the original charge
 for the services provided, and an
adjustment is made to the receivable in a contra account based on the historical collection rate for the provider and
payor
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combination. This adjustment takes into consideration any allowance for doubtful
accounts. Management determines
the allowance for uncollectible accounts based on historical experience. Concentrations of accounts receivable, net
of allowances for contractual discounts
and doubtful accounts, as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, are as follows:

  As of December 31,

  2022 2021

Medicare 25% 27%

Managed Medicare 25% 21%

Other Commercial 17% 17%

BCBS 17% 16%

Managed Medicaid 8% 12%

Other 8% 7%

  100% 100%

As of December 31, 2022, December 31, 2021, and January 1, 2021, the
accounts receivable, net balances were
$136.1 million, $111.2 million, and $80.4 million, respectively.

Inventories

Inventories, consisting primarily of pharmaceuticals finished goods,
 are valued at the lower of cost or net
realizable value, with cost being determined on a first-in, first-out basis. Obsolescence for inventories is estimated
based on expiration dates and slow-moving inventory. No obsolescence allowances have
 been recorded as of
December 31, 2022 and 2021. If the Company determines that an item is obsolete, or the expected net realizable
value upon sale is lower than the currently recorded cost, a write-down is recorded and charged to cost of revenue
to
reduce the inventory to its net realizable value and a new cost basis is established. The majority of the Company’s
inventories are purchased from a related party (See Note 14).

Other Receivables

Other receivables consist primarily of rebates on drug purchases
made in the current period which are offered
as an incentive by the distributor and/or manufacturer and are not yet paid as of year-end.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost and depreciated using
the straight-line method over the estimated
useful lives of the assets. A summary of the lives used for computing depreciation is as follows:

Leasehold improvements 1
– 15 years

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 7
years

Medical equipment 5
– 10 years

Computer equipment 5
years

Signs 7
years

Automobiles 5
years

Software 7
years

Leasehold improvements are amortized using the straight-line method
over the shorter of their estimated useful
lives or the term of the related lease, which may include one or more option renewal periods. Maintenance and
repairs that do not improve service potential or extend economic life are expensed as
 incurred. Expenditures for
major improvements and additions are capitalized. Long-lived assets to be held and used are reviewed for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset group may
not
be recoverable. In assessing long-lived assets for impairment, assets are grouped with other assets and liabilities
at the lowest level for which identifiable cash flows are largely independent of the cash flows of other assets and
liabilities.
Recoverability is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset group to the undiscounted
future net cash flows expected to be generated by the asset group. If estimated future undiscounted cash flows are
not sufficient to recover
the carrying value of the assets, impairment is measured by comparing the carrying amount
of the assets to the estimated fair value, obtained through appraisal or market quotations, or discounted future net
cash flow estimates. The Company did not recognize any long-lived asset impairments during 2022, 2021, and 2020.
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Goodwill

Goodwill arising from business combinations represents the excess of
the fair value of consideration transferred
over the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of the acquisition date. Goodwill
amounts are not amortized, but rather tested for impairment annually, on October
1, or more often if circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. There was no impairment of goodwill during
any of the
periods presented.

Leases

Effective January 1, 2022, the Company adopted ASU 2016-02, Leases and the subsequently issued
supplemental and/or clarifying ASUs known as ASC Topic 842 (collectively “ASC 842”) using the modified
retrospective approach. See Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements
 below, which discusses the initial
adoption of this new guidance.

The Company’s lease portfolio primarily consists of office and
equipment leases for its practice facilities. The
Company evaluates whether a contract is or contains a lease at contract inception. A lease exists when a contract
conveys to the customer the right to control the use of identified property or
 equipment for a period of time in
exchange for consideration. The definition of a lease embodies two conditions: 1) there is an identified asset in the
contract that is land or a depreciable asset (i.e., property, plant, and equipment); and 2)
the customer has the right to
control the use of the identified asset. ASC 842 requires a lessee to discount its unpaid lease payments using the
interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, its incremental
borrowing rate. As the
Company’s operating leases do not generally provide an implicit rate, the incremental borrowing rate is used based
on the information available at commencement date in determining the present value of lease payments. The
incremental borrowing rate for a lease is the rate of interest the Company would have to pay on a collateralized basis
to borrow an amount equal to the lease payments under similar terms. The lease term for all of the Company’s
operating leases
include the noncancellable period of the lease plus any additional periods covered by either a lessee
option to extend (or not to terminate) the lease that the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise, or an option to extend
(or not to terminate)
the lease controlled by the lessor. Lease payments included in the measurement of the operating
lease right-of-use (“ROU”) assets and lease liabilities are comprised of fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), variable payments
that depend on an index or rate, and the exercise price of a lessee option to purchase
the underlying asset if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise.

The Company elected not to recognize operating lease ROU assets and
lease liabilities for all short-term leases
(leases with an initial lease term of 12 months or less). The Company recognizes the lease payments associated with
short-term leases as an expense over the lease term.

The operating lease ROU assets are initially measured at cost, which
comprises the initial amount of the lease
liability adjusted for lease payments made at or before the lease commencement date, plus any initial direct costs
incurred less any lease incentives received. The operating lease ROU assets are
subsequently measured throughout
the lease term at the carrying amount of the lease liability, plus initial direct costs, plus (minus) any prepaid
(accrued) lease payments, less the unamortized balance of lease incentives received. Lease expense
 for lease
payments is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The operating lease liabilities are initially
measured at the present value of the unpaid lease payments at the lease commencement date.

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for its income taxes using the asset and
liability method whereby deferred tax assets
and liabilities are determined based on temporary differences between the basis used for financial reporting and
income tax reporting purposes. Deferred income taxes are provided based on the enacted
tax rates in effect at the
time such temporary differences are expected to reverse. A valuation allowance is provided for deferred tax assets if
it is more likely than not that the Company will not realize those tax assets through future
operations.

As limited liability companies, the Company and its consolidated
subsidiary are treated as partnerships for tax
purposes. For these entities, income taxes are not payable or provided for, as the Company’s members are taxed
individually on their interest in the Company’s taxable income. AON Partners and
Partners of Maryland are both
C corporations for tax reporting purposes. As such, a provision and liability for income taxes related to the results of
these operations have been included in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Accounting for uncertainty in income taxes prescribes a recognition
 threshold and measurement attribute for
the financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken, or expected to be taken, in a tax return.
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Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to
concentrations of credit risk consist principally of
cash and accounts receivable. Although certain cash accounts exceed the federally insured deposit amount,
management has not previously experienced nonperformance by any financial institution.

Equity-Based Compensation

The Company measures the compensation cost of all equity awards at
the estimated fair value of the award on
the date of grant and records the related expense in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations and
Comprehensive Income (Loss) on a straight-line basis over the applicable service period. The
 Company uses an
option pricing method to value its common stock. This method allocates the fair value of total equity to the various
components of equity based on an estimated liquidity event. This option pricing method first values the Company
at
the enterprise level, and then values breakpoints based on the liquidation preferences of the Class A, Class A-1, and
Class B units. An allocation of total equity (enterprise value) is then performed to the various equity components
based on
 the relative rights and privileges of each class of equity. The Company was assisted by third-party
valuation experts to apply the above models to calculate the fair value estimate. Forfeitures are accounted for as they
occur.

Debt Issuance Costs

Debt issuance costs consist of legal fees and other professional
services and are capitalized. Debt issuance costs
are presented in the Consolidated Balance Sheets as a direct deduction from the carrying value of the associated debt
liability and amortized to interest expense in the Consolidated Statements of
Operations and Comprehensive Income
(Loss). The costs related to the term loans are amortized using the straight-line method, which approximates the
effective interest method, over the terms of the related debt. The amortization related to the
 debt issuance costs
included in interest expense within the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive
Income (Loss) was $0.6
million in 2022, $0.4 million in 2021, and immaterial in 2020.

Offering Costs

The Company defers specific incremental costs directly attributable
to proposed offerings of securities. These
costs consist of legal, accounting, and other similar expenses incurred through the balance sheet date that are directly
related to a potential offering. If the offering is completed, these costs will be
charged against the gross proceeds of
the offering. These offering costs will be allocated to the separable financial instruments issued in the transaction on
a relative fair value basis of the securities issued, compared to total proceeds
 received. Offering costs associated
with any instruments classified as liabilities will be expensed as incurred, presented as non-operating expenses in the
Consolidated Statement of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss). At December 31,
2022, the Company had
incurred approximately $0.3 million of offering costs which are included in other assets in the accompanying
Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Professional Liability

The Company maintains insurance policies for exposure to
professional malpractice insurance risk. The limits
of malpractice insurance provide each physician/advanced practice provider with a dedicated $1.0
 million limit
per  claim and a $3.0 million limit in the aggregate per policy period — on a first dollar basis, as no deductible
applies. The policy further then extends coverage to the Company, by providing a $2.0 million limit per claim and a
$4.0 million limit in the aggregate per policy period — on a first dollar basis, additionally, as no deductible applies.
Reserves are established for
estimates of the loss that will ultimately be incurred on claims that have been reported
but not paid and claims that have been incurred but not reported. These reserves are established based on
consultation with a third-party actuary. The
actuarial valuations consider a number of factors, including historical
claims payment patterns, changes in case reserves and the assumed rate of increase in healthcare costs. Management
believes the use of actuarial methods to account for these
 reserves provides a consistent and effective way to
measure these subjective accruals. However, due to the sensitive nature of this estimation technique, recorded
reserves could differ from ultimate costs related to these claims due to changes in
claims reporting, claims payment
and] settlement practices and differences in assumed future cost increases. Accrued unpaid claims and expenses that
are expected to be paid within the next twelve months are classified as current liabilities and
 included in accrued
other. All other accrued unpaid claims and expenses are classified as long-term liabilities and included in other long-
term liabilities. Insurance recoveries associated with the unpaid claims are classified as long-term assets
included in
other assets.

F-16



Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in the principal or
most advantageous market in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date. The
carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, receivables, accounts payable, other
 current liabilities, and accrued
interest approximate fair value due to their short-term nature.

Accounting guidance establishes a three-level hierarchy, which
 requires an entity to maximize the use of
observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs when measuring fair value. The valuation hierarchy
is based upon the transparency of inputs to the valuation of an asset or liability on the
 measurement date. The
three levels are defined as follows:

Level 1 Inputs to the valuation methodology are quoted prices (unadjusted) for an identical asset or liability
in an active market.

Level 2 Inputs to the valuation methodology include quoted prices for a similar asset or liability in an
active market or model-derived
 valuations in which all significant inputs are observable for
substantially the full term of the asset or liability.

Level 3 Inputs to the valuation methodology are unobservable and significant to the fair value
measurement of the asset or liability.

Assets and liabilities are classified in their entirety based on the
lowest level of input that is significant to the
fair value measurement. The Company’s assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair value
measurement requires judgment and may affect the placement of assets and liabilities
being measured within the fair
value hierarchy. As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, there were no Level 3 financial instruments.

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

On January 1, 2022, the Company adopted ASU 2016-02, “Leases” (Topic 842), using the modified
retrospective approach for leases that existed on January 1, 2022. ASC 842 requires lessees to recognize assets and
liabilities for most leases.

The Company elected to adopt the leasing package of practical
expedients, which provides for not retroactively
reassessing: i) any expired or existing contracts containing leases under the new definition of a lease; ii) the lease
classification for any expired or existing leases; and iii) initial direct
costs for any expired or existing leases. The
Company also elected to adopt practical expedients around land easements and the combination of lease and non-
lease components for its real estate leases. These practical expedients were applied
 consistently to all applicable
leases.

Upon adoption of ASC 842, the Company recorded an initial adjustment
to the opening balance sheet of $44.4
million to operating ROU assets, ($1.2) million to prepaid expenses and other current assets, $8.0
million to current
portion of operating lease liabilities, $38.0 million to long-term operating lease liabilities, $2.5 million in ROU
assets and lease liabilities related to the Company’s finance leases; and $2.8 million to other long-term liabilities.
The impact of ASC 842 was not material to the Consolidated Statement of Operations and Comprehensive Income
(Loss).

In March 2020, the FASB issued ASU No. 2020-04, “Reference Rate Reform”, which provides temporary
optional guidance to companies impacted by the transition away from the London Interbank Offered Rate
(“LIBOR”). The guidance provides certain expedients and
 exceptions to applying GAAP in order to lessen the
potential accounting burden when contracts, hedging relationships, and other transactions that reference LIBOR as a
benchmark rate are modified. The guidance is effective as of March 12, 2020
 through December 31, 2022. In
February 2022, the Company amended its PNC Loan Facility whereby it is no longer referenced to LIBOR as the
benchmark rate. The Company has no other contracts or transactions benchmarked to LIBOR.

In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU No. 2019-12, Income Taxes (Topic740): Simplifying the Accounting
for Income Taxes (ASU 2019-12), which simplifies the accounting for income taxes (Topic 740) by removing
exceptions related to the incremental approach for
 intraperiod tax allocations, the requirement to recognize a
deferred tax liability for certain equity method investments, the ability not to recognize a deferred tax liability for a
foreign subsidiary when a foreign equity method investment
becomes a subsidiary, and the general methodology for
calculating income taxes in an interim period when a year-to-date loss exceeds the anticipated loss for the year. The
amendments in ASU 2019-12 also simplify the accounting for income taxes by
requiring that an entity recognize a
franchise tax that is partially based on income as an income-based tax and account for any incremental amount
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incurred as a non-income-based tax, requiring that an entity evaluate when a step up
 in the tax basis of goodwill
should be considered part of the business combination, specifying that an entity is not required to allocate deferred
tax expense to a legal entity that is not subject to tax, requiring that an entity reflect the
effect of an enacted change
in tax laws or rates in the interim period that includes the enactment date, and minor codification improvements for
income taxes related to employee stock ownership plans. The Company adopted the provisions of ASU
2019-12
effective January 1, 2022. The adoption of this pronouncement had no material impact on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, “Financial instruments — Credit Losses” (“ASU 2016-13”).
ASU 2016-13 requires entities to report “expected” credit losses on financial instruments and other commitments to
extend credit rather than the current “incurred loss”
model. These expected credit losses for financial assets held at
the reporting date are to be based on historical experience, current conditions, and reasonable and supportable
forecasts. This ASU will also require enhanced disclosures relating
to significant estimates and judgments used in
estimating credit losses, as well as the credit quality. ASU 2016-13 is effective for the Company for annual reporting
periods beginning after December 15, 2022. The Company is currently evaluating
the impact that this standard will
have on the consolidated financial statements.

In October 2021, the FASB issued ASU 2021-08, “Business Combinations: Accounting for Contract Assets and
Contract Liabilities from Contracts with Customers”, which provides that an acquirer must recognize, and measure
contract assets and contract
 liabilities acquired in a business combination in accordance with ASC 606. The
guidance is effective for the Company for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2023, with early
adoption permitted. The Company does not expect the
adoption of this standard to have a material impact on the
Company’s consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.

4.  Variable Interest Entities

AOMC is a wholly owned subsidiary of AON LLC and neither AOMC nor
AON LLC has ownership interest
in AON Partners and Partners of Maryland. Both AON Partners and Partners of Maryland are fully owned by a
physician. AON LLC operates its physician practices through the MSAs and other contractual agreements between
AOMC, AON Partners, and Partners of Maryland. The responsibilities of AOMC include, but are not limited to
negotiating provider and payor contracts, employment and compensation decisions, billing and collections,
furnishing all supplies and
equipment necessary for the respective practice’s operations as well as, necessary real
estate, contracting on behalf of AON Partners and Partners of Maryland, entering into leases, holding a power of
attorney to perform the above activities,
preparing, maintaining and administering all accounting records (including
financial reporting), expense payment, and maintenance of all information systems/software. AON LLC is paid a
management fee to compensate AOMC for the services provided.

Based on various quantitative and qualitative factors, including
assessment of certain services performed and
relationships held above, management has determined that AON Partners and Partners of Maryland are both variable
interest entities and AOMC is the primary beneficiary who holds the decision-making
rights over the activities that
most significantly impact AON Partners and Partners of Maryland’s economic performance through the MSAs and
other contractual agreements. Accordingly, the results of AON Partners and Partners of Maryland have been
consolidated with the Company for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020.

The assets of AON Partners and Partners of Maryland as of December 31,
2022 and 2021, are as follows:

  As of December 31,

Assets 2022 2021

Cash and cash equivalents $ 26,844 $ 24,074

Accounts receivable 136,098 111,183

Inventories 36,476 34,529

Property and equipment, net — 108

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 846 374

Goodwill and intangibles, net 180 180

Other receivables 28,139 24,950

Other assets 1,489 1,241

Total assets $230,072 $196,639

F-18





The liabilities of AON Partners and Partners of Maryland as of
December 31, 2022 and 2021, are as follows:

  As of December 31,

Liabilities 2022 2021

Accounts payable $102,783 $ 89,275

Accrued compensation and benefits 6,021 6,504

Accrued other 15,926 9,346

Medicare advance payment — 3,742

Other long-term liabilities 452 81

Due to AON and subsidiaries, net 128,204 102,090

Total liabilities $253,386 $211,038

All intercompany transactions and balances with the VIEs are
eliminated in consolidation.

5.  Business Combinations

2022 Acquisitions

During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company entered into a
purchase agreement acquiring control
of Northern Arizona Hematology and Oncology on January 1, 2022 for an aggregate purchase price of less than $0.1
million. Because the acquisition of Northern Arizona Hematology and Oncology was on the first day of the fiscal
period, AON’s results for the year ended December 31, 2022 include the results of the acquired practice.

2021 Acquisitions

During 2021 the Company entered into Asset Purchase Agreements
(“Transactions”) acquiring control of four
(4) oncology practices. The Transactions allow the Company to expand domestic reach related
to its comprehensive
oncology and practice management services. As described in Note  3, the Company evaluated each of the
Transactions and determined each acquisition represents a business combination. This standard also establishes
principles
and requirements for how the acquirer recognizes and measures in its financial statements the identifiable
assets and goodwill acquired, the liabilities assumed, and any noncontrolling interest in the acquiree. ASC 805 also
determines what
 information to disclose to enable users of the financial statements to evaluate the nature and
financial effects of the business combination.

In connection with each of the Transactions, the Company acquired 100% of both the clinical and nonclinical
assets of the respective seller. The clinical assets, acquired by AON Partners, primarily consist of medical
supplies
and drugs. Nonclinical assets, acquired by AOMC, primarily consist of tangible fixed assets and equipment. The
following table summarizes the amounts of the assets acquired and consideration transferred recognized on
respective
acquisition dates disclosed in Note 1, the accounting for which is completed as of December 31, 2022.
For the table below, the Company has presented the acquired locations collectively.

 

2021
Acquired
Locations

Purchase consideration  

Cash transferred upon closing $3,215

Assumed capital lease liabilities 1,097

Total consideration transferred 4,312

Net assets acquired  

Inventories 2,211

Other assets 180

Property and equipment 1,371

Total net assets acquired 3,762

Amount assigned to goodwill $ 550
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2020 Acquisitions

During 2020 the Company entered into Transactions acquiring control
 of six (6) oncology practices. As
described in Note 3, the Company evaluated each of the Transactions and determined each acquisition
represents a
business combination. This standard also establishes principles and requirements for how the acquirer recognizes
and measures in its financial statements the identifiable assets and goodwill acquired, the liabilities assumed, and
any
noncontrolling interest in the acquiree. ASC 805 also determines what information to disclose to enable users of
the financial statements to evaluate the nature and financial effects of the business combination.

In connection with each of the Transactions, the Company acquired 100% of both the clinical and nonclinical
assets of the respective seller. The clinical assets, acquired by AON Partners, primarily consist of medical
supplies
and drugs. Nonclinical assets, acquired by AOMC, primarily consist of tangible fixed assets and equipment. The
following table summarizes the amounts of the assets acquired and consideration transferred recognized on
respective
 acquisition dates disclosed in Note  1. For the table below, the Company has presented the acquired
locations collectively.

 

2020
Acquired
Locations

Purchase consideration  

Cash transferred upon closing $ 435

Issuance of note payable 621

Non-cash settlement 654

Total consideration transferred 1,710

Net assets acquired  

Inventories 834

Property and equipment 360

Prepaids 16

Total net assets acquired 1,210

Amount assigned to goodwill $ 500

The following table presents revenue and net income for the years
ended December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020,
respectively, as if the fiscal 2022 acquisition had occurred as of January 1, 2021, the fiscal 2021 acquisitions had
occurred as of January 1, 2020, and the fiscal 2020 acquisitions had occurred as of
January 1, 2019.

The unaudited pro forma consolidated financial information is
provided for informational purposes only and is
not necessarily, and should not be assumed to be, an indication of the results that would have been achieved had the
transactions been completed as of the dates indicated or that may be achieved in
the future. The Company did not
have any material, nonrecurring pro forma adjustments directly attributable to the business combinations included in
the reported pro forma revenue and net income.

  Pro Forma

  Year Ended December 31,

  2022 2021 2020

Revenue $1,149,670 $1,033,187 $951,182

Net income $ 2,589 $ 1,289 $ 22,381

From the dates of acquisition through December 31, 2022, December
 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020,
revenue attributable to 2022, 2021, and 2020 acquired businesses was $22.9 million, $55.7 million, and $63.1
million,
 respectively. It was impracticable to determine the effect on the Company’s net income (loss) of the
acquired businesses as their operations have been integrated into the Company’s ongoing operations since the dates
of acquisition.

In connection with each of the Transactions, the Company executed
employment agreements with the selling
physicians to become employees of AON Partners and/or Partners of Maryland. Additionally, for each transaction
the Company and selling physicians entered into a separate unwind agreement granting each other
a unilateral option
that may be exercised by either party and effectively returns the acquired business to the selling physicians if
exercised. In the event the Company or seller exercise their unwind rights, the selling physicians are required
 to
repay the
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original purchase price for the assets that were sold in the Transactions plus any
assets that were acquired after the
Transactions, less any accumulated depreciation or amortization with respect to the assets. The selling physicians are
also required to assume all contracts associated with their practice. Additionally, in the
event of unwind, the selling
physicians are entitled to any severance amounts that are due to them under their employment agreement with
AON  Partners and their employment is terminated on the unwind date. As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, no
liability has been recorded related to the unwind agreements as neither the Company nor any selling physicians have
exercised their unwind
rights and therefore no payments are considered probable to the selling physicians.

6.  Fair Value Measurements

The following table summarizes the Company’s financial assets that
are measured at fair value on a recurring
basis:

  As of December 31, 2022

  Amortized Cost

Gross
Unrealized

Gains

Gross
Unrealized

Losses

Estimated
Fair

Value

Cash equivalents(1)        

Level 1:        

Money market funds $ 109 $— $ — $ 109

Marketable securities        

Level 2:        

Corporate bonds 7,742 6 (125) 7,623

U.S. Treasury securities 2,226 6 (4) 2,228

Level 2 total 9,968 12 (129) 9,851

Total $10,077 $12 $(129) $9,960

(1)



Included in
cash and cash equivalents in the Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31, 2022

The Company uses quoted prices in active markets for identical
assets to determine the fair value of its Level 1
investments. The fair value of Level 2 investments is determined using pricing based on quoted market prices or
alternative market observable inputs.

The fair value of the Company’s marketable securities as of December
 31, 2022, by remaining contractual
maturities, were as follows:

  As of December 31, 2022

 
Corporate

Bonds
U.S. Treasury

Securities Total

Due within one year $3,660 $1,073 $4,733

Due within one to five years 3,963 1,155 5,118

Total $7,623 $2,228 $9,851

7.  Inventories

Inventories consisted of the following at December 31, 2022 and 2021:

  As of December 31,

  2022 2021

Intravenous drugs $25,674 $28,897

Oral pharmaceuticals 10,802 5,632

Total inventories $36,476 $34,529
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8.  Other Receivables

Other receivables consisted of the following at December 31, 2022 and
2021:

  As of December 31,

  2022 2021

Rebates receivable $27,955 $24,950

Other 246 128

Total other receivables $28,201 $25,078

9.  Property and Equipment, Net

Property and equipment, net, consisted of the following at December 31,
2022 and 2021:

  As of December 31,

  2022 2021

Leasehold improvements $ 26,076 $ 23,744

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 2,669 2,346

Medical equipment 11,003 8,811

Computer equipment 3,115 2,713

Signs 129 117

Automobiles 69 69

Software 4,834 4,036

Construction-in-progress 1,433 1,445

  49,328 43,281

Accumulated depreciation and amortization (17,348) (10,633)

Property and equipment, net $ 31,980 $ 32,648

For the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, depreciation
expense was approximately $6.7 million,
$6.1
 million, and $3.7 million, respectively, and is included in general and administrative expenses in the
Consolidated Statements of
Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss).

Construction-in-progress consists primarily of capital expenditures
on new physician practice facilities which
have not yet been opened and improvements to existing practice facilities which are not complete at year-end.

10.  Accrued Other

Accrued other consisted of the following at December 31, 2022 and 2021:

  As of December 31,

  2022 2021

Refund liability $14,544 $ 8,306

Deferred social security taxes – COVID 378 378

Current portion of finance lease liability 425 —

Other 2,453 5,108

Total accrued other $17,800 $13,792

11.  Long-term Debt

Debt consisted of the following at December 31, 2022 and 2021:

  As of December 31,

  2022 2021

PNC Facility $81,250 $65,000

Total 81,250 65,000

Unamortized debt issuance costs (949) (1,306)

Total debt $80,301 $63,694
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Credit Facilities

Truist Term Loans and Revolver

In connection with the acquisition of various physician practice
assets, the Company entered into Truist Term
Loans, all of which have identical underlying terms and provisions. The Term Loans are seven-year
 loans and
require interest only payments for the first two years of the term. For the remaining five years, monthly principal and
interest payments are required in amounts sufficient to fully amortize the principal at maturity. The Truist Term
Loans may be prepaid in whole or in part at any time without penalty.

On August 31, 2018, the Company entered into a one-year revolving line of credit agreement (“Truist
Revolver”) for $10.0 million maturing on August 31, 2019. On April 22, 2019, the Company executed the
first amendment to the Truist Revolver which increased the revolving credit limit to $27.0 million and extended the
maturity date to April 20, 2020. The Truist Revolver requires monthly interest only payments with the outstanding
principal balance due at maturity. The original base
interest rate was the one-month LIBOR rate plus an applicable
margin of 1.30%.

The Truist Term Loans and Revolver were collateralized by
 substantially all assets of the Company and
guaranteed on a limited basis by the Class A members of the Company and shareholder of AON Partners and
Partners of Maryland. In addition, the Company was required to maintain certain financial
covenants under these
loan agreements relating to debt service coverage and levels of tangible net worth.

On April 20, 2020, the Company modified the arrangement and received
an extension of the Truist Revolver
from April 20, 2020 to June 4, 2020. On June 4, 2020, the Company received an extension of the Truist Revolver
from June 4, 2020 to July 4, 2020. On July 4, 2020, the Company received an extension of the Truist
Revolver from
July 4, 2020 to September 4, 2020.

On September 4, 2020, the Company modified the arrangement and
 entered into an Amended and Restated
Loan Agreement (“Restated Truist Revolver”), which reduced the bank’s commitment from $27.0
million to $10.0
million, extended the maturity date to September 3, 2021 and increased the interest rate on all amounts outstanding
under the Revolver to the greater of LIBOR plus an applicable margin of 3.60% or 4.35%. All other provisions and
warranties of the
 credit agreement remained unchanged. There were no borrowings outstanding at December 31,
2021.

PNC Loan Facility

On April 30, 2021 the Company entered into a Loan Facility with PNC
(“PNC Loan Facility”) collateralized by
the Company’s assets and outstanding patient accounts receivable. The PNC Loan Facility is guaranteed on a limited
basis by the Company and shareholder of AON Partners and Partners of Maryland. $34.6 million of proceeds from
the PNC Loan Facility was used to pay off the Truist Term Loans and Truist Revolver. The remaining funds were
made
available for working capital and acquisition of additional physician practices.

The PNC Loan Facility is interest-only with total principal due at
maturity on April 30, 2024. Interest accrues
at one-month LIBOR or an alternate base rate plus 1.45%. The maximum balance of the PNC Loan Facility
(“Borrowing Base”) is limited to the lesser of the Facility Limit ($65.0 million) or the fair value of the Company’s
patient accounts
receivable. The Company must maintain a balance of the lesser of the Borrowing Base or 65% of
the Facility Limit in the first year and
75% of the Facility Limit in subsequent years (“minimum funding threshold”).
The Company can repay the PNC Loan Facility up to the
minimum funding threshold at any time without penalty. In
accordance with the PNC Loan Facility, the Company pledged $10.0 million of
collateral as restricted cash to be
released quarterly in increments of $2.5 million. The Company had $5.0 million of restricted cash related to the
Loan facility as of December 31, 2021. The restricted cash was fully released as of December 31, 2022.

On April 30, 2021, the Company entered into a $5.0 million revolving line of credit agreement (“PNC Line of
Credit”). The PNC Line of Credit has an expiration date of April 30, 2024 and bears interest at a rate per annum
equal to the sum of the daily LIBOR rate plus 1.65% or an alternate base rate plus .65% and is due on the
first day of
each month beginning June 1, 2021. Any outstanding principal and accrued interest will be due on the expiration
date. Beginning July 1, 2021, quarterly bank fees equal to 1.65% per day per annum will be due in arrears and will
continue on the first day of each quarter thereafter. All debt related to the PNC Line of Credit is collateralized by
the
Company’s assets. The Company is also subject to 0.20% unused line fee calculated per annum on the unused
balance of the PNC Line
of Credit.
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On July 29, 2021, the Company amended the PNC Loan Facility
increasing the Facility Limit to $75.0 million.
On February 14, 2022, the Company further amended the PNC Facility and PNC Line of
Credit agreements. The
primary changes included an increase of the PNC Facility limit from $75.0 million to $125.0 million, an increase of
the PNC Line of Credit availability from $5.0 million to $10.0 million, interest charges to be calculated based on the
Bloomberg Short-Term
Bank Yield Index plus 1.65% and certain financial covenants. As part of the amendment, the
Company drew an additional $16.3 million in proceeds under the PNC Loan Facility. On August 15, 2022, the
PNC Loan Facility and PNC Line of Credit agreements were amended again
 to reduce the availability under the
PNC Line of Credit from $10.0 million to $1.0 million. As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, no draws
had been
made on the PNC Line of Credit.

Effective November 23, 2022, the Company entered into Waiver and
 Amendment No. 6 (“Waiver and
Amendment”) under its PNC Facility Loan as the Company was not in compliance with the Delinquency Ratio
financial covenant for the period ending October 31, 2022 and the requirement to provide certain annual financial
statements. The Waiver and Amendment waives each event of default and also revised future delinquency
percentages and financial statement requirements.

The PNC Loan Facility and PNC Line of Credit nonfinancial covenants
 include restrictions related to
unpermitted property liens and the requirement of audited financial statements. Both agreements also contain several
financial covenants, including the following ratios: accounts receivable default, delinquency,
 dilution, days sales
outstanding, leverage, and fixed charge coverage. As of December 31, 2022, the Company was in compliance with
all financial and nonfinancial debt covenants as required by both loan agreements.

The Company paid approximately $0.3 million and $1.1 million,
 respectively in debt issuance costs in
connection with the Loan Facility in 2022 and 2021 which are being amortized to interest expense on a straight-line
basis over the life of the various agreements. The Company recorded a loss on
extinguishment of the debt issuance
costs on the Truist Term Loans and Revolver in the amount of approximately $0.1 million in 2021.

Interest expense on long-term debt in 2022, 2021, and 2020,
including amortization of debt issuance costs, was
$3.4 million, $1.4 million, and $1.1 million, respectively.

12.  Stockholders’ Equity

AON LLC had equity and stock-based compensation described below. The
 Company recasted Historical
AON LLC Equity outstanding for the periods prior to the reverse recapitalization, equal to the Per Company Unit
Exchange Ratio, pursuant to the Reverse Recapitalization, that was applied to the Class A, Class A-1, and
Class B
Units.

The economic interests of the members in AON LLC are represented by
units consisting of Class A, Class A-1,
and Class B membership units and AON LLC is authorized to issue an unlimited number of each class of units. The
Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement (“Amended LLC Agreement”) dated
 October 20,
2017 specifies the members’ rights and obligations relating to contributions, distributions, allocation of income and
loss and other matters.

Class A units

All Class A units are entitled to one vote per unit. The Class A units represent a percentage interest in AON
LLC determined by subtracting all of the Class B units’ interests.
However, the Class A units’ percentage shall not
be less than 70%. There were 19,495,376 Class A units outstanding at December 31, 2022 and 2021 from an initial
contribution of capital of $7.7 million.

Class A-1 units

In March 2020, AON LLC entered into the Second Amended and Restated
 Limited Liability Agreement
(“Second Amended LLC Agreement”). The Second Amended LLC Agreement established another class of equity,
Class A-1 units, of which 1,842,520 units were issued to the Class A-1 Member upon the contribution of capital of
$30.0
million. The Class A-1 Member is an affiliate of AON LLC’s largest supplier of oncology products. The Class
A-1 units have rights similar to Class A units including one vote per unit; however, the Second Amended LLC
Agreement now provides for a cumulative, annually- compounded, unguaranteed, preferred return of 8.0% on Class
A capital contributions and 4.0%
on Class A-1 capital contributions. AON LLC paid an investment banking firm a
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fee of $1.5 million in connection with the closing of this transaction. The $30.0
million capital contribution less
brokerage fees of $1.5 million is included as a net capital contribution of $28.5 million in the Consolidated
Statements of Members’ Equity and Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.

Class B units

Class B units are issued through the 2017 Profits Interest Plan
adopted by the Company in October 2017. The
Class B units are available to be granted to certain employees to promote the long-term growth and profitability of
the Company and represent profits interest awards. Awards vest over a two-to-five-year period based on
anniversary
date for certain employees and cliff vest on the fifth anniversary date for certain other employees. All awards vest
immediately upon a change in control of the Company. All unvested awards expire upon a grantee’s termination of
employment. A grantee has no ability to put the award back to the Company absent a distribution or liquidation
event. Class B units
have no voting rights.

In March 2020, the Company entered into the Second Amended LLC
Agreement and in connection with the
admission of the Class A-1 Member, the Company restructured the waterfall, and removed the 30%
collar on the
Class B Units. In order to effectuate these changes, the Company adopted the Second Amended LLC Agreement and
a new capital table which, assigned new numbers of Class B units based on their percentage interest relative to the
Class
A Members by a factor of 101 units. The changes to the capital table were expressly called out and approved
by the Class A Members and
Class B Members in their Signature Pages and Joinders to the Second Amended LLC
Agreement.

Aggregate equity-based compensation expense recorded for the years
 ended December 31, 2021 and
2020 related to the Class B units was $20 thousand and is reflected in the carrying value of the Class
B Units on the
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2022 and 2021. Compensation expense for the year ended
December 31, 2022 and unrecognized compensation expense related to unvested units was not material. As of
December 31, 2022 and
2021, 5,614,176 Class B Units were outstanding and 4,703,628 Class B Units were vested.
No Class B Units were issued,
vested or forfeited during the year ended December 31, 2022.

13.  Income Taxes

The income tax expense (benefit) in 2022, 2021, and 2020 consisted of
the following:

  Year Ended December 31,

  2022 2021 2020

Current      

Federal $— $(306) $ 152

State — (20) 123

  — (326) 275

Deferred      

Federal — 433 (922)

State — 353 (136)

  — 786 (1,058)

Total income tax expense (benefit) $— $ 460 $ (783)

The differences between the federal tax rate and the Company’s
effective tax rate for the years ended December
31, 2022, 2021, and 2020 are as follows:

  Year Ended December 31,

  2022 2021 2020

Federal statutory income tax rate 21.00% 21.00% 21.00%

State taxes, net of federal benefit (11.94) (97.95) (0.80)

State rate change (2.15) (3.41) 0.07

Other (3.71) 3.00 0.07

Nontaxable passthrough LLC income (87.14) (658.26) (27.31)

Increase in valuation allowance 83.94 864.95 3.26

Effective tax rate —% 129.33% (3.71)%
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Components of the net deferred tax assets and liabilities at
December 31, 2022 and 2021 are as follows:

  As of December 31,

  2022 2021

Deferred tax assets    

Net operating loss carryforwards $ 6,589 $ 5,166

Accrued expenses 165 426

Deferred tax assets 6,754 5,592

Valuation allowance (5,835) (3,662)

Net deferred tax asset 919 1,930

Deferred tax liabilities    

Prepaid expenses — 64

Accounting method change 918 1,866

Fixed assets 1 —

Deferred tax liabilities 919 1,930

Net deferred tax asset $ — $ —

As of December 31, 2022, the Company had federal and state net
 operating loss (“NOL”) carryforwards of
$25.4 million and $26.8 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2021, the Company had federal and state NOL
carryforwards of $20.1 million and $20.5 million, respectively. The federal NOL carryforwards
 can be carried
forward indefinitely and the state NOL carryforwards begin to expire in 2028.

During the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company
 recorded an increase in the valuation
allowance of $2.2 million and $3.0 million, respectively. The increase is primarily related to additional tax losses
generated during the year.

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, there are no liabilities related to uncertain tax positions. The Company
recognizes interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax liabilities as a
component of income tax expense, if any.
The Company recognized no material interest and penalties during the years ended December
31, 2022, 2021, and
2020 and had no accrued interest or penalties as of December 31, 2022 and 2021.

The Company files income tax returns in the U.S. Federal
jurisdiction and various state and local jurisdictions.
The U.S. Federal and state and local tax returns are subject to examination for years 2019 and later. The Company
does not currently have any open audits.

14.  Related Parties

 


Transactions Notes Receivable

The Company entered into promissory notes with physicians of the
Company. The notes receivable balances
are satisfied through cash payments or settlements through the physicians’ compensation as part of their employee
agreement. The notes receivable are amortized over a 60-month period as a reduction of compensation. The notes
bear interest at the Company’s incremental borrowing rate (1.57% at December 31, 2022 and 1.55% at December
31, 2021).

  As of December 31,
Original
Principal

Issue
Date

Maturity
Date  2022 2021

Notes receivable          

Note 2 $ 1,057 $ 1,294 $5,355 5/1/2019 4/30/2024

Note 3 119 217 491 6/1/2019 5/31/2024

Note 4 — 259 917 8/1/2019 7/31/2024

Note 6 351 680 1,111 5/22/2020 5/22/2023

Note 8 2,221 2,513 2,816 5/1/2020 5/1/2025

Note 9 125 — 125 1/24/2022 6/30/2023

Total notes receivables 3,873 4,963      

Less: Current portion of notes receivable (1,797) (1,812)      

Notes receivable, less current portion $ 2,076 $ 3,151      
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Leases

The Company has operating leases for office facilities owned by
employees of the Company. Total cash paid
for leases to related parties for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020 was approximately $2.5
million,
$2.3 million and $6.8
million, respectively.

Inventory Purchases/Concentration Risk

The Company purchases the majority of its pharmaceuticals inventory
from a subsidiary under common control
of the Class A-1 Member, which made an equity investment in AON in 2020. During the years ended December 31,
2022, 2021 and 2020, the Company purchased approximately $924.0 million, $731.0 million, and $574.0 million,
respectively, from the related party. These purchases were approximately 88%, 83% and 88% as a percentage of cost
of revenue for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, respectively. At December 31, 2022 and 2021,
the Company had $102.1 million and $88.8 million,
respectively, included in accounts payable for invoices from the
related party, representing 96% of total accounts payable at each
balance sheet date.

15.  Leases

The Company currently leases office facilities and equipment for its
practices under noncancelable operating
and financing lease agreements expiring on various dates through 2032. Certain of the leases contain renewal
options which are exercisable at the Company’s discretion. These renewal options are considered
in determining the
lease term if it is reasonably certain that the Company will exercise such options. Additionally, the Company leases
certain other office and medical equipment under month-to-month lease agreements.

Leases for ten of the Company’s facilities are controlled by related parties as of December 31, 2022. See
Note 14. As of December 31, 2022, the operating ROU assets, net and lease
 liabilities related to these properties
were $13.1 million and $13.5 million, respectively.

Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities consist of the following at
December 31, 2022:

Assets  

Operating lease right-of-use assets, net $43,724

Finance lease right-of-use assets, net (included in property and equipment, net) 1,998

Total right-of-use assets $45,722

Liabilities  

Current  

Current portion of operating lease liabilities $ 9,177

Current portion of finance lease liabilities (included in accrued other) 425

Long-term 9,602

Long-term operating lease liabilities 37,224

Long-term finance lease liabilities (included in other long-term liabilities) 1,619

Total lease liabilities $48,445

The components of lease costs recognized in the Consolidated
Statements of Operations and Comprehensive
Income (Loss) consist of the following for the year ended December 31, 2022:

Operating lease costs $12,465

Finance lease costs  

Amortization of finance lease right-of-use assets 523

Interest on finance lease liabilities (included in interest expense) 79

Variable lease costs 2,737

Total lease costs $15,804
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The following table reconciles the undiscounted cash flows
expected to be paid in each of the next five years
and thereafter recorded on the Consolidated Balance Sheet for operating and financing leases as of December 31,
2022:

  Operating Leases Finance Leases

2023 $11,215 $ 491

2024 10,049 491

2025 7,762 469

2026 7,448 231

2027 6,528 166

Thereafter 11,067 429

Total lease payments 54,069 2,277

Less: amount representing interest (7,668) (233)

Present value of lease liabilities 46,401 2,044

Less: current portion of lease liabilities (9,177) (425)

Long-term lease liabilities, net of current portion $37,224 $1,619

The weighted-average remaining lease terms as of December 31, 2022
for operating leases and finance leases
are 5.68 years and 5.37 years, respectively. The weighted-average discount rates as of December 31, 2022 for
operating leases and finance leases are 4.88% and 3.60%, respectively.

The cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease
 liabilities for the year ended December 31,
2022 is as follows:

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:  

Operating cash flows from operating leases $12,590

Operating cash flows from finance leases 79

Financing cash flows from finance leases 426

ROU assets obtained in exchange for new operating lease liabilities 9,811

Total rent expense prior to the adoption of ASC 842 for the years
 ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 was
approximately $16.2 million and $11.3 million, respectively, which is primarily included in cost of revenues on the
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss).

16.  Commitments and Contingencies

 


Florida Cancer Specialists Service

In October 2017, the Company entered into a Services Agreement
 (“Agreement’) with Florida Cancer
Specialists, P.L. (“FCS”). FCS provides certain medical services and practice management and administration
services to the various physician practices. These services include but are not limited to insurance
 billing,
collections, accounts payable, purchasing, payroll processing, and compliance and coding support. The initial
agreement has a five-year
 term which renews annually unless either party terminates with twelve months written
notice. Fees for services are based on a
percentage of full-time equivalent (“FTE”) revenue, as defined, subject to a
maximum percentage per FTE at defined revenue levels. For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, AON
Partners and Partners of Maryland collectively incurred costs
 of approximately $4.7 million and $18.7
 million,
respectively, related to this Agreement which are included in general and administrative expenses in the
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss). As additional security for payments
under the Agreement,
AON LLC deposited $1.0 million with FCS. During 2021, the agreement was terminated, and
the Company settled with FCS.

Contingencies

The Company, through its arrangements with certain contracts, is
subject to the Medicare and Medicaid fraud
and abuse laws which prohibit, among other things, any false claims, or any bribe, kick- back or rebate in return for
the referral of Medicare and Medicaid patients. Violation of these prohibitions may
 result in civil and criminal
penalties and exclusion from participation in the Medicare and Medicaid programs. Management has implemented
policies and procedures they believe will assure that the Company is in substantial compliance with these
 laws.
From time to time, the Company may receive requests for information from government agencies pursuant to their
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regulatory or investigational authority. Such requests can include subpoenas or
 demand letters for documents to
assist the government in audits or investigations. Management believes that the outcome of any of these
investigations would not have a material adverse effect on the Company.

Laws and regulations governing the Medicare program are complex
and subject to interpretation. The Company
believes that it is complying in all material respects with all applicable laws and regulations and is not aware of any
pending or threatened investigations involving allegations of potential
wrongdoing that would have a material effect
on the Company’s consolidated financial statements. Compliance with such laws and regulations can be subject to
future government review and interpretation, as well as significant regulatory action
including fines, penalties, and
exclusion from the Medicare Program.

The Company and its affiliates are subject to various legal
proceedings and claims arising in the normal course
of their business. In the opinion of management, the amount of the ultimate liability, if any, with respect to these
lawsuits and claims will not have a material effect on the consolidated
financial statements of the Company.

17.  Professional Liability Insurance

The Company has purchased claims-made professional liability
 insurance coverage through December 31,
2022 and 2021, covering up to $1.0 million per incident and $1.0 million in annual aggregate for each physician and
covering up to $2.0 million per incident and $4.0 million in the
aggregate at the entity level. The policy does not
require a deductible per incident. As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the gross malpractice insurance recovery
balance was $2.2 million and $1.0 million, respectively, and the
 malpractice insurance reserve liability balance
totaled $3.7 million and $2.2 million, respectively. The Company has a net tail liability of approximately $1.6
million and $1.1 million, respectively, for claims arising from incidents prior to December 31,
2022 and 2021 that
are not yet reported as of December 31, 2022 and 2021.

18.  Earnings (Loss) Per Share

The Company recast Historical AON LLC equity as AON Inc. common
 equity for all periods prior to the
Reverse Recapitalization, refer to Note 2. However, as 100% of the net income (loss) of AON LLC prior to the
Reverse Recapitalization is attributable to the Legacy AON Shareholders, basic and diluted earnings
(loss) per share
is zero for years ended December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020.

19.  Subsequent Events

The Company has evaluated subsequent events through April 27,
2023, the date these consolidated financial
statements were available to be issued and has determined that the following subsequent event requires disclosure in
the consolidated financial statements.

On February 28, 2023, AON entered into a term sheet with a
third-party institutional investor contemplating, on
a non-binding basis, an aggregate investment by such investor of at least $65.0
million in the form of newly issued
convertible preferred securities, to be consummated concurrently with the closing of the DTOC Transaction.

In connection with the reissuance of the consolidated financial
 statements, the Company has evaluated
subsequent events through the date the consolidated financial statements were available to be reissued.
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Exhibit 99.2

AON MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS
OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis provides
information which AON’s management believes is relevant to
an assessment and understanding of AON’s results of operations and financial condition. You should read the
following discussion and analysis of AON’s financial condition and results of
 operations together with AON’s
condensed consolidated unaudited financial statements as of September 30, 2023 and for the nine months ended
September 30, 2023 and 2022, and its audited consolidated financial statements as of and for the years
 ended
December 31, 2022 and 2021, together with the related notes thereto, included in AON’s Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2023, filed November 14, 2023 and this Current Report on Form 8-K. This
discussion and
analysis should also be read together with the description of AON’s business in the section entitled
“Business” in AON’s reports and filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Certain of the information contained in this
 discussion and analysis or set forth elsewhere in this section,
including information with respect to plans and strategy for AON’s business, includes forward-looking statements
that involve risks and uncertainties. As a result of many factors,
 including those factors set forth in the section
entitled “Risk Factors,” in AON’s Proxy Statement/Prospectus filed on July 18, 2023 and AON’s Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2023, filed November 14, 2023. AON’s
actual results could differ
materially from the results described in or implied by the forward-looking statements contained in the following
discussion and analysis. You should carefully read the section entitled “Risk Factors” to gain an
understanding of
the important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from AON’s forward-looking statements.
Please also see the section entitled “Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” in the AON’s
reports and filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Overview

Since its inception in 2018, AON has offered an innovative model of
physician-led, community-based oncology
management. AON preserves and elevates community oncology by helping its physicians navigate the complex
healthcare landscape, providing them an efficient platform to work autonomously and thrive, and most
importantly,
improving the quality of patient care that is being delivered. We are an alliance of physicians and veteran healthcare
leaders partnering to ensure the long-term success and viability of oncology diagnosis and treatment in
community-
based settings. As of September 30, 2023, we have 109 physicians and 96 advanced practice providers across 85
locations in 19 states and the District of Columbia. Our robust platform provides oncology practices with
comprehensive
 support, access to revenue- diversifying adjacent services and practice management expertise to
empower physicians to make cancer care better for every patient.

Our mission is to provide the best cancer care that is affordable
and close to where patients live and work. We
believe the key to accessible and equitable healthcare lies in the strength of community healthcare practices and we
are committed to closing the gap in cancer care to ensure every patient has access
to the optimal care needed to help
in their fight against cancer. To accomplish this, we have practices in some of the most densely populated cities as
well as rural areas where medical resources are scarce. We deliver cancer care innovation by
 bringing new
treatments to the forum and also by ensuring access to the necessary adjacent services to provide comprehensive
quality cancer care and preserving the delivery of personalized cancer care in the community oncology setting.

Through access to care-enhancing patient services such as a
 centralized specialty pharmacy, wide ranging
clinical lab and pathology services, a fully integrated technology platform anchored by an oncology- specific
electronic medical record system, as well as a caring management team and a variety of
 financial assistance
programs, our patients receive expert cancer care at each of our clinics.

We provide patients a variety of services to enhance patient care
 throughout the healthcare journey: high-
quality and timely laboratory services for routine and specialized testing; in-house professional and technical
pathology services providing complete, accurate and timely pathology reports; in-house
 specialty pharmacy with
patient education, financial assistance, and 24/7 patient assistance; and care management support services including
nutrition guidance.

As the future of healthcare continues to transition from volume to
value, we are at the forefront of this initiative
by ensuring we remain focused on care quality over care quantity and maintaining a patient-first mentality. Through
an integrated system of seamless communication, coordination and patient care
 for better health outcomes, AON
practices benefit from decreased expenditures through the implementation of centralized administrative services,
processes, and technologies designed to support effective decision- making such as optimal pricing on
drugs and
medical supplies. Our patients benefit through our 24/7 clinical care support leading to a reduction in unnecessary
emergency room visits and admissions and enhanced care quality. Ultimately, the payors benefit from more efficient
delivery of high-quality, comprehensive services comparable to any hospital system at a lower cost point.
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Though our network spans the country, our clinicians are
interconnected and focused on driving change not just
at their local clinics, but throughout our network. Our Network Practices not only unite in collaboration through a
physician advisory board, but they also remain at the forefront of new
discoveries and findings by expanding and
improving cancer treatment options for every patient through a Pharmacy and Therapeutics Committee that
continuously updates its formulary in real time as advanced therapeutics come to market and through
participating in
clinical research to ensure we remain on the cutting edge of cancer protocols. Patients benefit from convenient
access to clinical trials that we participate in without the need to travel to large cities or tertiary cancer care
facilities,
and personalized care by matching a patient’s cancer to a tailored therapy using molecular profiling.

We have invested significantly in a resilient, integrated technology
 platform to support the practices which
includes a fully integrated electronic health record and a robust decision support tool and analytics engine. Our
development of compliance materials ensures consistency and optimal patient experiences that
meets or exceeds the
Office of Inspector General (“OIG”) guidelines.

We believe that our position in the market and focus on elevating
the state of oncology care with our affiliated
providers bodes well for future growth. Our proprietary technology platform supports this growth and enables the
Network Practices to standardize and deliver consistent care at scale. We believe that
our model will support growth
into new markets and allow us to continue to service more patients across the United States.

The Business Combination

On September  20, 2023 (the “Closing Date”), DTOC and AON undertook a
 series of transactions (the
“Business Combination”) resulting in the organization of the combined post-business combination company as an
umbrella partnership C corporation, in which substantially all of the assets and the business of the
 combined
company are held by AON, and DTOC became a member of AON. In connection with the closing of the Business
Combination, DTOC changed its name to “American Oncology Network, Inc.” (referred to herein as “AON”).

As a result of, and in connection with, the Closing, among other
 things, (i) AON amended and restated its
operating agreement (the “Amended and Restated AON LLC Agreement”) to reclassify its existing Class A units,
Class A-1 units and Class B units into a single class of AON LLC common units that were
exchanged on a one-to-
one basis for shares of AON Class A Common Stock (“AON Class A Common Stock”) and its existing AON
Class  C units into AON Series  A preferred units; (ii) AON converted profit pool units of certain of AON’s
subsidiaries into
an equal number of AON LLC common units and shares of AON Class B Common Stock (“AON
Class B Common Stock”), which together are exchangeable into shares of AON Class A Common Stock (together
with the AON Class B Common Stock, the “AON Common
Stock”); (iii) AON amended and restated its charter (the
“Charter”) to provide for (a) the conversion of all existing shares of DTOC Class B Common Stock into shares of
AON Class A Common Stock on a one-to-one basis, (b) amendment of the terms of
AON Class B Common Stock to
provide holders voting rights but no economic rights and (c) designation of a new series of AON preferred stock as
Series A convertible preferred stock (the “AON Series A Preferred Stock”) with such rights and
 preferences as
provided for in the certificate of designation of the AON Series A Preferred Stock (the “AON Series A Certificate of
Designation”); and (iv) among other things, (a) AON issued common units to AON in exchange for a combination
of
cash and shares of AON Class B Common Stock and warrants to acquire shares of AON Class B Common Stock
(the “Class B Prefunded Warrants”), (b) AON was admitted as a member of AON, (c) AON distributed shares of
AON Class  B Common Stock or Class  B
 Prefunded Warrants, as applicable, to AON equityholders, (d) AON
reserved a specified number of additional shares of AON Class A Common Stock after the Closing for issuance to
eligible participants, (e) Merger Sub merged with and into the AON
Class C Preferred Investor whereby the separate
existence of Merger Sub ceased and AON issued a number of shares of AON Series A Preferred Stock equal to the
number of AON Series A preferred units held by the AON Class C Preferred Investor to AEA
Growth Management
LP, the parent of AON Class C Preferred Investor (“AEA Growth”) in exchange for all the shares of common stock
held by AEA Growth in the AON Class C Preferred Investor (the “First Step”), (f) promptly after the First Step, the
AON Class C Preferred Investor merged with and into AON whereby the separate existence of the AON Class C
Preferred Investor ceased and AON held all the AON Series A preferred units and (g) from and after the Closing
(but subject to lock-up
restrictions), the AON common equityholders (other than AON) will have the right (but not
the obligation) to exchange AON LLC common units together with an equal number of shares of AON Class B
Common Stock (whether held directly or indirectly
through Class B Prefunded Warrants) for shares of AON Class A
Common Stock.

2





In addition, in connection with the Closing of the Business
 Combination, DTOC completed the offer to the
holders of AON Class B-1 units to exchange their AON Class B-1 units for such number of newly issued shares of
AON Class A Common Stock equal to the ratio set forth in the Business Combination
Agreement (such offer, the
“Exchange Offer”). DTOC and AON solicited consents from the holders of AON Class B-1 units to make certain
amendments to the terms of the awards and the unit grant agreements pursuant to which the AON Class B-1 units
were granted, which provided for the automatic exchange, as of immediately prior to the adoption of the Amended
and Restated AON LLC Agreement, of all outstanding AON Class B-1 units into shares of AON Class A Common
Stock (collectively, the
“Proposed Amendments”). The requisite number of holders of Class B-1 units provided their
consent to the Proposed Amendments, and as a result, in connection with the closing of the Business Combination,
all AON Class B-1 units were exchanged for
an aggregate of 1,047,343 shares of AON Class A Common Stock.

Immediately after giving effect to the Business Combination, there
were (i) 9,532,354 issued and outstanding
shares of AON Class A Common Stock, which includes common stock held by DTOC stockholders and Digital
Transformation Sponsor LLC (the “Sponsor”) (including those shares subject to vesting and forfeiture
pursuant to
the Sponsor Support Agreement), but does not include shares which may be issued under the Incentive Equity Plan
(as defined below) and (ii) 25,109,551 issued and outstanding shares of AON Class B Common Stock. As of the
Closing Date,
(i) AON’s equityholders (not including holders of our Series A Preferred Stock) beneficially owned
approximately 63.3% of the outstanding shares of AON Common Stock, (ii) the public stockholders of DTOC
immediately prior to the Closing
 beneficially owned approximately 0.36% of the outstanding shares of AON
Common Stock, (iii) the Sponsor and the DTOC officers and directors immediately prior to the Closing Date
beneficially owned approximately 20.2% of the outstanding shares of
 AON Common Stock, and (iv) holders of
outstanding AON Series A Preferred Stock beneficially owned approximately 16.1% of the outstanding shares of
AON Common Stock (based upon conversion of the AON Series A Preferred Stock at an initial
conversion price of
$10.00 per share).

The Business Combination is accounted for as a reverse
recapitalization in accordance with GAAP. Under this
method of accounting, DTOC is treated as the “acquired” company for financial reporting purposes. This
determination was primarily based on AON’s directors comprising a majority of the board
seats for AON’s board of
directors, AON senior management comprising substantially all of the senior management of the post-combination
company, and AON comprising the substantive operations pre-combination as well as the ongoing operations of
the
post-combination company. Accordingly, for accounting purposes, the financial statements of the combined entity
will represent a continuation of the financial statements of AON with the Business Combination being treated as the
equivalent of
 AON issuing stock for the net assets of DTOC, accompanied by a recapitalization whereby no
goodwill or other intangible assets are recorded.

Key Factors Affecting Performance & Non-GAAP Measures

Factors Affecting Our Revenues

There are many factors that drive patient service revenues; however,
we focus on certain key metrics such as:

• Total patient encounters which include initial consultations and treatments, new patient encounters,
recurring patient
encounters and treatments, and cancer vs non cancer patients.

• Patient referrals which are also an important driver of patient service revenue; we manage the referral
pipeline locally
through the coordinated efforts of our physician liaisons working with our physicians to
market our practices by visiting referral sources such as, primary care providers and other medical
specialties.

Factors Affecting Our Operating Costs

Operating costs are primarily dependent upon factors such as:

• The cost of prescription drugs used in our treatment plans which include both intravenous and oral
oncolytics. The management
 of these costs are a critical component of our business as it is our single
largest expense. We manage this cost by strategic volume purchases and continuously evaluating the most
clinically effective drug for cancer type through our
Pharmaceutical and Therapeutics Committee.

• Clinical compensation and benefits, including non-medical personnel, represent our second largest
operating expense. These
costs are impacted by both micro and macro-economic factors as well as local
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competition for personnel that could impact costs associated with personnel. In
 particular, in all of our
markets, we have seen significant increases in compensation for qualified nursing resources. We
continuously monitor wages period over period to mitigate the impact of variations in industry and macro-
economic labor
conditions.

• We lease all of our facilities, therefore real-estate costs are a significant component of our operating costs.
We continuously
 monitor local and national real estate conditions to actively manage our exposure to
fluctuating occupancy costs.

Key Non-GAAP Financial Measures We Use to Evaluate Our Performance

Adjusted EBITDA

This filing includes the non-GAAP financial measure “Adjusted
EBITDA”. Management views this metric as a
useful way to look at the performance of our operations between periods and to exclude decisions on capital
investment and financing that might otherwise impact the review of profitability of the
business based on present
market conditions. Management believes this measure provides an additional way of viewing aspects of the
Company’s operations that, when viewed with the GAAP results, provides a more complete understanding of the
Company’s results of operations and the factors and trends affecting the business.

Adjusted EBITDA is defined as net income prior to interest income,
 interest expense, income taxes, and
depreciation and amortization, as adjusted to add back certain other non-cash charges that we may record each year,
such as stock-compensation expense, as well as non-recurring charges such as expenses incurred
 related to major
operational transitions and transaction costs. We believe these expenses and non-recurring charges are not
considered an indicator of ongoing company performance. The measures are used as a supplement to GAAP results
in
 evaluating certain aspects of our business, as described below. We believe Adjusted EBITDA is useful to
investors in evaluating our performance because the measure considers the performance of our operations, excluding
decisions made with respect
to capital investment, financing, and other non-recurring charges as outlined above.

The Company includes Adjusted EBITDA because it is an important
 measure upon which our management
uses to assess the results of operations, to evaluate factors and trends affecting the business, and to plan and budget
future periods. However, non-GAAP financial measures should be considered a supplement to,
 and not as a
substitute for, or superior to, the corresponding measures calculated in accordance with GAAP. Non-GAAP financial
measures used by management may differ from the non-GAAP measures used by other companies, including the
Company’s
 competitors. Management encourages investors and others to review the Company’s financial
information in its entirety, and not to rely on any single financial measure. Adjusted EBITDA should not be
considered as an alternative to net income as an
 indicator of our performance or as an alternative to any other
measure prescribed by GAAP as there are limitations to using such non-GAAP measures. We compensate for these
limitations by providing disclosure of the differences between Adjusted
 EBITDA and GAAP results, including
providing a reconciliation to GAAP results, to enable investors to perform their own analysis of our operating
results.

Adjusted Net Income

We define Adjusted Net Income as net income, plus (i) the mark to
market charge on derivative liabilities that
are (a) non-cash or (b) non-operating in nature, (ii) the mark to market, non-cash charge on the derivative related to
the public and private warrants, and (iii) nonrecurring transaction costs incurred
 by the AON and DTOC in
conjunction with the Business Combination. Management believes Adjusted Net Income is a useful non GAAP
measure because it reflects the impact of non-recurring and recurring, non-cash gain/loss on derivatives and non-
cash
stock compensation related to the Class B-1 shares that vested in their entirety upon closing of the transaction
on net income related to the closing of the Business Combination with DTOC.

Components of Results of Operations

Patient Service Revenue, net

The Company receives payments from the following sources for
 services rendered: (i) commercial insurers;
(ii) pharmacy benefit managers (“PBMs”); (iii) the federal government under the Medicare program administered by
the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (“CMS”); (iv) state governments under
 Medicaid and other
programs, including managed Medicare and Medicaid; and (v) individual patients.
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The primary elements of patient service revenue are from fee for
 service (“FFS”) revenue which includes
revenue from required patient infusion and injection treatments, as well as oral prescription drugs. FFS revenue
comprise revenues in which we bill and collect for medical services rendered by our physicians
 or nurse
practitioners including office visits and consults. FFS revenue also includes infusion therapies and treatment. FFS
revenue consists of fees for medical services provided to patients. Payments for services provided are generally less
than billed charges. The Company records revenue net of an allowance for contractual adjustments, which represents
the net revenue expected to be collected from third-party payors (including managed care, commercial, and
governmental payors such
as Medicare and Medicaid), and patients.

These expected collections are based on fees and negotiated payment
rates in the case of third-party payors, the
specific benefits provided for under each patient’s healthcare plan, mandated payment rates in the case of Medicare
and Medicaid programs, and historical cash collections (net of recoveries). The
 recognition of net revenue (gross
charges less contractual allowances) from such services is dependent on certain factors, such as, the proper
completion of medical charts following a patient encounter, proper medical coding of the charts, and
the verification
and authorization of each patient’s eligibility at the time services are rendered as to the payor(s) responsible for
payment of such services.

Oral prescription drugs comprise revenues from prescriptions written
by our doctors to their patients which are
dispensed directly by AON’s specialty pharmacy. Revenue for the oral prescription is based on fee schedules set by
various PBMs and other third-party payors. The fee schedule is often subject to direct
 and indirect remuneration
(“DIR”) fees, which are based primarily on adherence and other metrics. DIR fees may be significant and may be
assessed in the periods after payments are received against future payments. The Company recognizes revenue,
net
of estimated DIR fees, at the time the patient takes possession of the oral drug.

Other Revenue

Other revenue is primarily generated from service arrangements with
 various hospitals systems and data
contracts as well as through clinical trials.

Cost of Revenue

Cost of services primarily includes chemotherapy drug costs,
clinician salaries and benefits, medical supplies,
and clinical occupancy costs. Clinicians include oncologists, advanced practice providers such as physician
assistants and nurse practitioners, and registered nurses. Specialty pharmacy costs
primarily include the cost of oral
medications dispensed from the specialty pharmacy including overhead costs for running a free-standing pharmacy
and shipping costs to patients.

General and administrative

Our general and administrative expenses include corporate occupancy
 costs, technology infrastructure,
operations, clinical and quality support, finance, legal, human resources, and business development. Depreciation
and amortization expenses are also included in general and administrative expenses. The Company
 expects its
general and administrative expenses to increase over time following the consummation of the Business Combination
due to the additional legal, accounting, insurance, investor relations and other costs that the Company will incur as a
public company, as well as other costs associated with continuing to grow the business. While we expect general and
administrative expenses to increase in the foreseeable future, such expenses on average are expected to decrease as a
percentage
of revenue over the long term, as the company continues to scale its operations.

Transaction Expenses

Transaction expenses consist of legal services, professional fees
 and other due diligence expenses that were
incurred in connection with the Business Combination. These transaction expenses are considered non-recurring and
as a result are included as an add-back in the Company’s adjusted EBITDA calculation.
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Results of Operations

Comparison of the Three Months and Nine Months Ended September 30, 2023
and 2022 Revenue

 
Three Months Ended 


September 30, Change
Nine Months Ended 


September 30, Change

(dollars in thousands) 2023 2022 $ % 2023 2022 $ %

Patient service revenue, net $332,195 $293,612 $38,583 13.1% $945,681 $840,507 $105,174 12.5%

Other revenue 4,110 3,712 398 10.7% 9,322 8,765 557 6.4%

Total revenue $336,305 $297,324 $38,981 13.1% $955,003 $849,272 $105,731 12.4%

For the three months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022 revenue
increased $39.0 million, or 13.1%, primarily
due to a $38.6 million increase in patient service revenue and a $0.4 million increase in other revenue.

For the nine months ended September  30, 2023 and 2022 revenue
 increased by $105.7  million, or 12.4%,
primarily due to a $105.1 million increase in patient service revenue and a $0.6 million increase in other revenue.

Patient service revenue, net

For the three months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022 the
$38.6 million increase in revenue is attributable
to organic growth seen between periods due to an increase of patient encounters of 6.0% driving $38.1 million of the
revenue increase.

For the nine months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022 the
$105.2 million increase in revenue is partially
attributable to organic growth seen between periods due to an increase of patient encounters of 5.7% driving
$86.0 million of the revenue increase. An additional $19.1 million increase in patient
service revenue was due to the
impact of one acquisition and five affiliate agreements in 2022 which are fully reflected in the nine months ended
September 30, 2023 as well as three affiliate agreements entered into during the nine months ended
September 30,
2023.

Other revenue

For the three months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022 other revenue
increased $0.4 million primarily due to
an increase in clinical trial revenue.

For the nine months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022 other revenue
increased $0.6 million primarily due to
an increase in clinical trial revenue.

Operating Expenses

 
Three Months Ended 


September 30, Change
Nine Months Ended 


September 30, Change

(dollars in thousands) 2023 2022 $ % 2023 2022 $ %

Cost of revenue $310,894 $267,647 $43,247 16.2% $880,827 $780,658 $100,169 12.8%

General and administrative
expenses 25,199 23,432 1,767 7.5% 72,831 66,155 6,676 10.1%

Transaction expenses 24,603 151 24,452 * 29,886 151 29,735 *

Total costs and expenses $360,696 $291,230 $69,466 23.9% $983,544 $846,964 $136,580 16.1%

*



— % not meaningful

For the three months ended September  30, 2023 and 2022, operating
 expenses increased $55.0  million, or
18.9%, due to a $43.2  million increase in cost of revenue, a $1.8  million increase in general and administrative
expenses and a $10.0 million increase in transaction expenses.

For the nine months ended September  30, 2023 and 2022, operating
 expenses increased $122.2  million, or
14.4%, due to a $100.2 million increase in cost of revenue, a $6.7 million increase in general and administrative
expenses and a $15.3 million increase in transaction expenses.
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Cost of revenue

For the three months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, cost of
revenue increased $43.2 million which was
primarily driven by drug and medical supply costs, due to both increased patient encounters and cost per encounter.
The volume of patient encounters at our practices increased cost of revenue by
 $13.4  million, and the cost per
encounter drove a $24.2 million increase. The increased cost of patient encounters was driven by a combination of
higher drug and supply costs as well as the drug and service mix patients required. Company also
 incurred a one
time, non-recurring $4.8  million expense related to non-cash stock compensation as a result of closing of the
transaction. The remaining increase of cost of revenue relates to drug and supply costs from two affiliate agreements
entered into during the three months ended September 30, 2023.

For the nine months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, cost of
revenue increased $100.2 million which was
primarily driven by drug and medical supply costs, due to both increased patient encounters and cost per encounter.
The volume of patient encounters at our practices increased cost of revenue by
 $35.7  million, and the cost per
encounter drove a $44.1 million increase. The increased cost of patient encounters was driven by a combination of
higher drug and supply costs as well as the drug and service mix patients required. An additional
$15.9 million of
increase in cost of revenue relates to drug and supply costs from one acquisition and five affiliate agreements in
2022 which are fully reflected in the nine months ended September 30, 2023 as well as three affiliate agreements
entered into during the nine months ended September  30, 2023. Company incurred a one time, non-recurring
$4.8 million of non-cash stock compensation expense as a result of closing of the transaction.

General and administrative expense

For the three months ended September  30, 2023 and 2022, the
 $1.8  million increase in general and
administrative expenses was driven by a $2.0 million increase in costs associated with the Company’s revenue cycle
function.

For the nine months ended September  30, 2023 and 2022, the
 $6.7  million increase in general and
administrative expenses was primarily driven by a $5.5 million increase in revenue cycle costs associated with the
Company’s growth and optimization of our revenue cycle function. The remaining increase was
 driven by an
increase in depreciation and amortization of $1.1 million.

Transaction expense

For the three months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, the
$24.5 million increase in transaction expenses
was driven by the legal, accounting, and consulting fees incurred by the Company due to the Business Combination
that closed in September of 2023.

For the nine months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, the
$29.7 million increase in transaction expenses
was driven by the legal, accounting, and consulting fees incurred by the Company due to the Business Combination
that closed in September of 2023.

Other Income (Expense)

 
Three Months Ended 


September 30, Change
Nine Months Ended 


September 30, Change

(dollars in thousands) 2023 2022 $ % 2023 2022 $ %

Interest expense $(1,532) $(924) $ (608) 65.8% $ (4,500) $(2,034) $ (2,466) 121.2%

Interest income 373 49 324 * 499 104 395 *

Other (expense) income, net (3,309) 388 (3,697) (952.8%) (7,689) 849 (8,538) (1005.7%)

Total other expense $(4,468) $(487) $(3,981) 817.4% $(11,690) $(1,081) $(10,609) 981.4%

*



— % not meaningful

Interest expense

The increase in interest expense for the three and nine months ended
 September  30, 2023 was due to an
increase in interest rates resulting from an increase in the federal funds rate from 3.25% in the third quarter of 2022
to 5.50% in the third quarter of 2023.
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Other (expense) income, net

For the three months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022 the increase
in other expense is attributable to a non-
cash charge of $3.3 million related to the fair value adjustment of the Class A-1 & Class C derivative liability, in
addition to a non-cash charge of $0.2 million related to the fair value of the
Public and Private Warrant liabilities.

For the nine months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022 the increase
in other expense is attributable to a non-
cash charge of $8.3 million related to the fair value adjustment of the Class A-1 & Class C derivative liability, in
addition to a non-cash charge of $0.2 million related to the fair value of the
Public and Private Warrant liabilities.

Income taxes

 
Three Months 


Ended September 30, Change
Nine Months Ended 


September 30, Change

(dollars in thousands) 2023 2022 $ % 2023 2022 $ %

Provision for income taxes $315 $— $315 * $315 $— $315 *

Effective tax rate (1.1)% —%     (0.8)% —%    

*



— % not meaningful

The Company’s effective income tax rate was (1.1)% and 0% for the
three months ended September 30, 2023
and 2022, respectively and (0.8)% and 0% for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022 respectively.
The effective income tax rate for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022
differed from the
federal statutory rate primarily as a result of the Closing on September  20, 2023, resulting in a portion of the
Company's consolidated pre-tax earnings, which were previously not subject to income taxes, flowing into a taxable
corporation included in the Company's post transaction structure.

Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 Revenue

  Year ended December 31, Change

(dollars in thousands) 2022 2021 $ %

Patient service revenue, net $1,137,932 $938,242 $199,690 21.3%

  Year ended December 31, Change

(dollars in thousands) 2022 2021 $ %

Other revenue 11,738 5,505 $ 6,233 113.2%

Total revenue $1,149,670 $943,747 $205,923 21.8%

Revenue increased by $205.9 million, or 21.8%, primarily due to a
$200.0 million increase in patient service
revenue and a $6.2 million increase in other revenue.

Patient service revenue, net

The $200.0 million increase in patient services revenue was
primarily due to the impact of five acquisitions and
six affiliate agreements, including five in 2021 which are fully reflected in the year ended December 31, 2022, and
accounted for $144.0 million of the increase in revenues between the periods.

Organic growth, excluding the acquired practices, drove the
remaining increase in revenue. Patient encounters
at our practices increased revenue by $10.0 million, and $50.5 million of our increased revenue was attributed to the
drug and service mix that patients required based on their clinical diagnoses
and treatment plans.

Other revenue

Other revenue increased $6.2 million primarily due to a clinical
trial agreement entered into during 2022 and an
increase in professional services agreements whereby the Company’s physicians provide services to various hospital
systems.
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Operating Expenses

  Year ended December 31, Change

(dollars in thousands) 2022 2021 $ %

Cost of revenue $1,054,217 $865,788 $188,429 21.8%

General and administrative expenses 89,887 77,048 12,839 16.7%

Total costs and expenses $1,144,104 $942,836 $201,268 21.3%

Operating expenses increased $201.3 million, or 21.3%, due to a
$188.4 million increase in cost of revenue and
a $12.8 million increase in general and administrative expenses.

Cost of revenue

Cost of revenue increased $188.4 million which was primarily driven
by an increase of $113.4 million of drug
and medical supply costs, $3.4 million of occupancy costs, and $17.3 million in clinical compensation and benefits
related to the acquisition of five practices and six new affiliate agreements, including
five in 2021 which are fully
reflected in the year-ended December 31, 2022.

Organic growth, excluding the practices above, drove the remaining
increase of drug and medical supply costs
within cost of revenue. The volume of patient encounters at our practices increased cost of revenue by $7.7 million,
and the cost per encounter drove a $47.1  million increase. The cost of patient
 encounter was driven by a
combination of higher drug and supply costs as well as the drug and service mix patients required.

General and administrative expense

The increase in general and administrative expenses were primarily
 driven by a $7.0  million increase in
corporate compensation due to the termination of the Company’s third party back office provider in 2021 which
resulted in ramping up hiring of corporate personnel as well as increases due to the inflationary
effects of tight labor
markets nationally. Further, there was a $4.7  million increase in IT costs, $4.7  million increase in
consulting & accounting fees, and a $1.5 million increase in postage costs. These increases were offset by a decrease
of approximately $4.7 million in central service fees as well as a $1.5 million decrease in value-based care costs
related to the federal oncology care model which ended in December of 2021.

Other Income (Expense)

  Year ended December 31, Change

(dollars in thousands) 2022 2021 $ %

Interest expense $(3,417) $(1,419) $(1,998) 140.8%

Interest income 151 127 24 *

Other income, net 289 736 (447) *

Total other expense $(2,977) $ (556) $(2,421) *

*



— % not meaningful

Interest expense

The increase in interest expense was due to an increase in interest
rates resulting from the seven increases in the
federal funds rate during 2022.

Other income, net

The decrease of other income, net is primarily attributable to a
$0.4 million decrease in sublease rental income.

Income taxes

  Year ended December 31, Change

(dollars in thousands) 2022 2021 $ %

Income tax expense $  — $460 $(460) —

*



— % not meaningful
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The Company’s effective income tax rate was 0.0% and 129.33% for
the years ended December 31, 2022 and
2021, respectively. The provision for income taxes was $0 and $460 for the years ended December 31, 2022 and
2021, respectively. The change in the provision for income taxes was primarily due to a full
valuation allowance on
all corporate entities recorded against the Company’s deferred tax assets during 2022.

Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 Revenue

  Year ended December 31, Change

(dollars in thousands) 2021 2020 $ %

Patient service revenue, net $938,242 $714,678 $223,564 31.3%

HHS grant income — 6,841 (6,841) (100.0)%

Other revenue 5,505 3,224 2,281 70.8%

Total revenue $943,747 $724,743 $219,004 30.2%

Revenue increased by $219.0 million, or 30.2%, primarily due to a
$223.6 million increase in patient service
revenue and a $2.3 million increase in other revenue, offset by a $6.8 million decrease in HHS grant income.

Patient service revenue, net

The $223.6 million increase in patient services revenue was
primarily due to the impact of 10 acquisitions and
one affiliate agreement, including six in 2020 which are fully reflected in the year ended December 31, 2021 and
accounted for $199.1  million of the increase in revenues between the periods.
 Organic growth, excluding the
acquired practices, drove the remaining increase in revenue. Increased revenue of approximately $24.9 million was
primarily attributable to an increase in patient encounters of 5.8%.

HHS grant income

The decrease in HHS grant income was due to the Department of Health
and Human Services providing a one-
time grant of $6.8 million in 2020 to support small businesses during the COVID-19 pandemic which is not required
to be repaid, but no similar grant was provided in 2021.

Other revenue

Other revenue increased $2.3 million primarily due to an increase in
professional services agreements whereby
the Company’s physicians provide services to various hospital systems.

Operating Expenses

  Year ended December 31, Change

(dollars in thousands) 2021 2020 $ %

Cost of revenue $865,788 $658,638 $207,150 31.5%

General and administrative expenses 77,048 44,033 33,015 75.0%

Total costs and expenses $942,836 $702,671 $240,165 34.2%

Operating expenses increased $240.2 million, or 34.2%, due to a
$207.2 million increase in cost of revenue and
a $33.0 million increase in general and administrative expenses.

Cost of revenue

Cost of revenue increased $207.2 million which was primarily driven
by an increase of $153.2 million of drug
and medical supply costs, $4.6 million of occupancy costs, and $24.9 million in clinical compensation and benefits
related to the acquisition of 10 practices and one new affiliate agreement, including six
 in 2020 which are fully
reflected in the year-ended December 31, 2021.

Organic growth, excluding the practices above, drove the remaining
increase of drug and medical supply costs
within cost of revenue. Patient encounters rose 5.8% at our practices and were the primary driver of the increased
cost of revenue, resulting in an increase in costs of approximately $27.3 million. This
increase was partially offset
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by a combination of lower drug and supply costs due to the service mix that patients
 required, resulting in an
approximately $9.7 million reduction in costs when compared to the prior period. Further, an $8.2 million increase
in organic practice costs was attributable to the inflationary effects of tight labor markets nationally.

General and administrative expense

The increase in general and administrative expense was primarily
driven by the Company’s transition from a
third party back office provider in 2021. This led to an increase of $25.6  million in costs due to the hiring of
administrative and corporate personnel as well as a $10.6  million increase in other related
 transition costs.
Additionally, there was a $3.6 million increase in compensation and benefits attributable to the inflationary effects of
tight labor markets nationally, $2.7 million increase in rent and depreciation and amortization expense,
$1.4 million
in expenses associated with the Value Based Care program, as well as approximately $3.0 million increase of other
G&A costs. This was partially offset by a decrease of $13.9 million in central service fees paid when the Company
outsourced its back-office functions to a third-party.

Other Income (Expense)

  Year ended December 31, Change

(dollars in thousands) 2021 2020 $ %

Interest expense $(1,419) $(1,116) $(303) 27.2%

Interest income 127 32 95 *

Other income, net 736 180 556 *

Total other expense $ (556) $ (904) $ 348 (38.5)%

*



— % not meaningful

Interest expense

The increase in interest expense was due to an increase of
$27.2 million in long-term borrowings offset by a
decrease in interest rate, as a result of refinancing our credit agreement in the second quarter of 2021.

Other income, net

The increase of other income is primarily attributable to a
$0.4 million increase in sublease rental income.

Income taxes

  Year ended December 31, Change

(dollars in thousands) 2021 2020 $ %

Income tax expense (benefit) $460 $(783) $1,243 (158.7)%

The Company’s effective income tax rate was 129.33% and (3.71%) for
the years ended December 31, 2021
and 2020, respectively. The increase in income tax expense was primarily due to a significant decrease in pre-tax
income from 2020 to 2021 attributable to the Company’s legal entities treated as partnerships for
 income tax
purposes. As partnerships, these legal entities are not subject to income tax, which significantly impacts state taxes
and nontaxable passthrough LLC income. Additionally, the Company established a full valuation allowance against
its
net deferred taxes at one of its corporate entities during 2021.
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Our Adjusted EBITDA for recent comparative periods is presented as
follows:

Comparison of the Three Months and Nine Months Ended September 30, 2023
and 2022

The following table provides a reconciliation of net income, the
 most closely comparable GAAP financial
measure, to Adjusted EBITDA:

 
Three Months 


Ended September 30, Change
Nine Months Ended 


September 30, Change

(dollars in thousands) 2023 2022 $ % 2023 2022 $ %

Net loss $(29,205) $5,607 $(34,812) (620.9%) $(40,797) $ 1,227 $(42,024) (3424.9%)

Interest expense, net 1,159 875 284 32.5% 4,001 1,930 2,071 107.3%

Depreciation and
amortization 2,060 2,159 (99) (4.6%) 6,368 5,318 1,050 19.7%

Income tax expense 315 — 315 * 315 — 315 *

Non-cash stock
compensation 4,875 5 4,870 * 4,875 15 4,860 *

Operational
transformation(a) — 235 (235) (100.0%) — 1,409 (1,409) (100.0)%

Gain/loss on derivative
liabilities 3,316 — 3,316 * 8,382 — 8,382 *

Transaction expenses(b) 24,603 151 24,452 * 29,886 151 29,735 *

Adjusted EBITDA $ 7,123 $9,032 $ (1,909) (21.1%) $ 13,030 $10,050 $ 2,980 29.7%

*



— % not meaningful
(a)



Personnel costs associated with rationalization of our central services cost structure

(b)



Transaction expenses are one-time non-recurring and are a result of expenses incurred in connection with the Business Combination.

Adjusted Net Income

Management believes Adjusted Net Income is a useful non GAAP measure
because it reflects the impact of
non-recurring and recurring, non-cash gain/loss on derivatives and non-cash stock compensation related to the
Class B-1 shares that vested in their entirety upon closing of the transaction on net income related
to the closing of
the Business Combination with DTOC. We define Adjusted Net Income as net income, plus (i) the mark to market
charge on derivative liabilities that are (a) non-cash or (b) non-operating in nature, (ii) the mark to market,
non-cash
charge on the derivative related to the public and private warrants, and (iii) nonrecurring transaction costs incurred
by the AON and DTOC in conjunction with the Business Combination. A reconciliation of Adjusted Net Income to
net
income/loss, its closes GAAP measure, is set forth in the table below.

 
Three Months 


Ended September 30, Change
Nine Months Ended 


September 30, Change

(dollars in thousands) 2023 2022 $ % 2023 2022 $ %

Net loss $(29,205) $5,607 $(34,812) (620.9%) $(40,797) $1,227 $(42,024) (3424.9%)

Plus: Non-cash stock
compensation 4,875 5 4,870 * 4,875 15 4,860 *

Plus: Gain/loss on
derivative liabilities 3,316 — 3,316 * 8,382 — 8,382 *

Plus: Transaction
expenses(a) 24,603 151 24,452 * 29,886 151 29,735 *

Total Adjusted Net
Income $ 3,589 $5,763 $ (2,174) (37.7%) $ 2,346 $1,393 $ 953 68.4%

*



— % not meaningful
(a)



Transaction expenses are one-time non-recurring and are a result of expenses incurred in connection with the Business Combination.
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Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2022 and 2021

The following table provides a reconciliation of net income, the
 most closely comparable GAAP financial
measure, to Adjusted EBITDA:

 
Year Ended 


December 31, Change

(dollars in thousands) 2022 2021 $ %

Net income $ 2,589 $ (105) $ 2,694 *

Interest expense, net 3,266 1,292 1,974 152.8%

Depreciation and amortization 6,719 6,079 640 10.5%

Income tax expense (benefit) 0 460 (460) (100.0)%

Non-cash stock compensation — 20 (20) (100.0)%

Insourcing transition expenses** — 1,886 (1,886) (100.0)%

Other*** 510 — 510 100.0%

Operational transformation**** 1,726 — 1,726 100.0%

Transaction costs 3,277 — 3,277 100.0%

Adjusted EBITDA $18,087 $9,632 $ 8,455 87.8%

*



% not meaningful
**



These expenses relate to incremental costs associated with our transition from a third-party back- office service provider to
 internal
resources.

***



Costs incurred related to Hurricane Ian.
****



Personnel costs associated with rationalization of our central services cost structure.

Adjusted EBITDA was $18.1 million for the year ended December 31,
2022 as compared to $9.6 million for
the year ended December  31, 2021. The increase in Adjusted EBITDA was primarily due to an increase in net
income of approximately $2.7 million. Additionally, the Company incurred certain non-recurring expenses
 in the
most recent period related to Hurricane Ian of approximately $0.5  million, operational transformation costs of
$1.7  million, and personnel costs associated with the rationalization of our central services cost structure of
$3.3 million, as
well as $0.6 million of additional depreciation and amortization. This was partially offset by the
non-recurrence of costs associated with our prior year insourcing efforts. As the number of oncology practices we
have acquired has grown, and
continues to grow, we have focused our resources in recent periods on building a
sustainable, scalable, operating platform. This has included adding headcount and processes that we believe will
allow us to continue to add additional physician
practices without requiring this level of costs. The results of these
efforts have led to compressed operating margins and reduced Adjusted EBITDA in the current period; however, we
believe this positions us for profitable growth as we continue
 to expand our clinical footprint through both
acquisitions and organic growth.

Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020

The following table provides a reconciliation of net income, the
 most closely comparable GAAP financial
measure, to Adjusted EBITDA:

  Year Ended December 31, Change

(dollars in thousands) 2021 2020 $ %

Net income $ (105) $21,951 $(22,056) (100.5)%

Interest expense, net 1,292 1,084 208 19.2%

Depreciation and amortization 6,079 3,656 2,423 66.3%

Income tax expense (benefit) 460 (783) 1,243 (158.8)%

Non-cash stock compensation 20 20 — —

Insourcing transition expenses** 1,886 — 1,886 *

Adjusted EBITDA*** $9,632 $25,928 $(16,296) (62.9)%

*



% not meaningful
**



These expenses relate to incremental costs associated with our transition from a third-party back-office service provider to
 internal
resources.
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Adjusted EBITDA was $9.6 million for the year ended December 31,
2021 as compared to $25.9 million for
the year ended December  31, 2020. The decrease in Adjusted EBITDA was primarily due to a reduction in net
income of approximately $22.1  million. The reduction in net income resulted from, in large part, due
 to the
Department of Health and Human Services providing a one-time grant of $6.8  million in 2020 to support small
businesses during the COVID-19 pandemic which is not required to be repaid, but no similar grant was provided in
2021. As the
number of oncology practices we have acquired has grown, and continues to grow, we have focused
our resources in recent periods on building a sustainable, scalable, operating platform. This has included adding
headcount and processes that we
 believe will allow us to continue to add additional physician practices without
requiring this level of costs. The results of these efforts have led to compressed operating margins and reduced
Adjusted EBITDA in the current period; however, we
believe this positions us for profitable growth as we continue
to expand our clinical footprint through both acquisitions and organic growth.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

General

To date, the Company has financed its operations principally through
 the issuance of membership units and
long-term debt, and to a lesser extent, cash flows from operations. As discussed below, on June  7, 2023, the
Company entered into an agreement to issue Class  C Preferred Units for net proceeds of approximately
$64.5  million. As of September 30, 2023, the Company had $51.6 million of cash and cash equivalents, $26.0
million of short-term marketable securities, $81.3 million in outstanding long-term indebtedness, and $1.0 million of
availability under
its PNC Line of Credit.

The Company may incur operating losses and generate negative cash
flows from operations for the foreseeable
future due to the investments management intends to continue making in expanding operations and sales and
marketing and due to additional general and administrative expenses management expects to incur in
 connection
with operating as a public company. As a result, the Company may require additional capital resources to execute
strategic initiatives to grow the business.

Management believes that the cash on hand, cash proceeds from the
Class C issuance, and additional cash from
the Business Combination will be sufficient to fund the Company’s operating and capital needs for at least the next
12 months. The Company’s actual results may vary due to, and its future capital
requirements will depend on, many
factors, including its organic growth rate and the timing and extent of acquisitions of new clinics and expansion into
new markets. The Company could use its available capital resources sooner than management
currently expects. The
Company could use its available capital resources sooner than management currently expects. The Company may be
required to seek additional equity or debt financing.

Reverse Recapitalization

The Company closed the Business Combination on September 20, 2023
(“the Closing” or the “Closing Date”).
As of the Closing, the Company received $1.4 million of the remaining cash held in the Trust Account after all
redemptions. On the Closing Date, the Company paid $7.1 million of DTOC transaction expenses
 incurred as a
result of the Business Combination. The Company assumed an additional $6.1 million in liabilities, of which $3.4
million were related to an excise tax and $2.7 million related to unpaid transaction expenses incurred by DTOC as a
result of the Business Combination.

The number of shares of Class A Common Stock that AON is obligated
to register for resale in a prospectus
pursuant to a registration rights agreement is in approximately 537% of the number of shares of Class A Common
Stock currently outstanding because a significant portion of the shares to be registered under
 such prospectus
represents shares that will be issued upon the exercise of warrants, or the conversion of our Class B Common Stock
or the conversion of our Series A Preferred Stock. Such shares of Common Stock will represent a substantial portion
of our public float. If the warrants are exercised and if our Class B Common Stock or Series A Preferred Stock are
converted into Class A Common Stock, such shares of Class A Common Stock will be significantly dilutive and
may cause a decline in
the market price of our securities. Accordingly, if and to the extent we determine to raise
additional capital in the future, there can be no assurance that such additional capital would be available on attractive
terms, if at all. Following the
 expiration of the applicable lock-up restrictions described herein, the sale of the
securities registered for resale hereunder, or the perception that such sales may occur, may cause the market prices of
our securities to decline significantly.
On November 14, 2023 the closing price of our Class A Common Stock was
$6.30, and most of the Selling Securityholders have purchased certain shares at prices per share lower than such
closing price. As a result, many of the Selling
Securityholders may
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earn a positive rate of return by selling such shares, even if such sale results in
a significant decline in the public
trading price of our Class A Common Stock and such Selling Securityholders’ shares are sold at a lower public
trading price. For example, based on the closing price of our Class A Common Stock of $6.30 on
November  14,
2023, the Sponsors and other holders of the founder shares would experience a potential profit of up to
approximately $6.30 per share, or approximately $52.5 million in the aggregate.

In the event of the exercise of any of warrants for cash, AON will
 receive the proceeds from such exercise.
Assuming the exercise in full of all of the public warrants and private placement warrants for cash, AON would
receive an aggregate of approximately $166.2  million, but would not receive any proceeds from
 the sale of the
shares of Class A Common Stock issuable upon such exercise. To the extent any of the warrants are exercised on a
“cashless basis,” AON will not receive any proceeds upon such exercise. AON expects to use any proceeds it
receives
 from cash exercises of warrants for general corporate and working capital purposes. AON believes the
likelihood that warrant holders will exercise their warrants, and therefore the amount of cash proceeds AON would
receive, is dependent upon the
trading price of its Class A Common Stock, the closing price for which was $6.30 per
share on November 14, 2023. If the trading price of Class A Common Stock is less than the $11.50 exercise price
per share of the warrants, AON expects that
warrant holders will not exercise their warrants. There is no guarantee
the warrants will be in the money following the time they become exercisable and prior to their expiration, and as
such, the warrants may expire worthless and AON may receive
no proceeds from the exercise of Warrants. As a
result, AON does not expect to rely on the cash exercise of warrants to fund its operations and AON does not need
such proceeds in order to support working capital and capital expenditure
requirements for the next twelve months.
AON will continue to evaluate the probability of warrant exercises and the merit of including potential cash
proceeds from the exercise of the warrants in its future liquidity projections. AON instead
currently expects that cash
on hand, cash proceeds from the Class C issuance, and additional cash from the Business Combination, as described
above, will be sufficient to fund the Company’s operating and capital needs for at least the next 12
months.

There were a significant number of redemptions in connection with
the closing of the Business Combination,
and as discussed above, it is unlikely that AON will receive significant proceeds from exercises of the warrants
because of the disparity between the exercise price of the warrants and the current trading
 price of the Class A
Common Stock. Notwithstanding, AON does not believe these factors adversely affect their current liquidity
position. As of September 30, 2023, AON had $51.6 of cash and cash equivalents, $26.0 of marketable securities,
$81.3
million in outstanding long-term indebtedness, and $1.0 of available credit under its PNC Loan Facility as
described in the section below. Furthermore, AON expects that such capital resources will be supplemented by
AON’s operating cash flow.
Since AON did not receive and does not expect to receive significant capital from the
Business Combination, and because AON still has such liquidity and capital resources available from its cash on
hand, marketable securities, the PNC Loan
Facility and its operating cash flow, AON did not experience a material
change to its liquidity position as a result of the Business Combination. At the current time, unless an opportunistic
circumstance arises, the Company does not have any
plans to seek additional capital.

We note that the Sponsor is the beneficial owner of 8,112,500 shares
of our Class A Common Stock (including
the 2,839,375 Earnout Shares), and 6,113,333 private placement warrants, which, if exercised, would result in the
Sponsor owning an aggregate of 14,450,833 shares of our Class A Common Stock, or
approximately 90.9% of our
outstanding Class A Common Stock as of November 17, 2023. We have filed a registration statement covering the
(i) the issuance by us of up to 8,337,500 shares of class A common stock to be issued upon the exercise of
8,337,500
public warrants, which entitles its holder to purchase shares of Class A Common Stock at an exercise price of $11.50
per share and (ii) the resale of (a) an aggregate of 51,161,832 shares of Class A Common Stock by certain of the
selling securityholders and (b) 6,113,333 private placement warrants to purchase shares of Class A Common Stock
issued to the selling securityholders, which includes securities held by the Sponsor. So long as the prospectus within
such
registration statement is available for use by the Sponsor and its permitted transferees, the market price of our
Class A Common Stock may be depressed because the Sponsor paid approximately $0.003 per share for its Founder
Shares and the Sponsor
and its permitted transferees may be incentivized to sell its securities when others are not.

Significant Financing Transactions

2020 Sale of Class A-1 Equity

In March of 2020, the Company sold 730 Class A-1 Units for gross
proceeds of $30.0 million. Offering related
costs of approximately $1.5 million were incurred, resulting in net proceeds to AON of approximately $28.5 million,
which are recorded as a capital contribution in the Consolidated Statements of
Members’ Equity. The proceeds from
the investment were used primarily for capital expenditures and to fund additional acquisitions of physician
practices.

2020 Debt Financing Activity

During 2020, the Company held various term loans with Truist Bank
 which were primarily used to finance
acquisitions of various physician practices since the Company’s inception. The term loans, all of which had the same
terms and provisions, were seven-year loans which required interest only payments for the
first two years of the loan
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term. The base interest rate is the one-month LIBOR rate plus an applicable margin
 of 1.45% (1.60% at
December 31, 2020). The Company made approximately $0.6 million in interest payments during 2020 on this loan.
There was approximately $26.5 million outstanding as of December 31, 2020 related to these loans.

The Company also modified its existing revolving credit arrangement
 with Truist Bank during 2020. The
original revolving line of credit was modified to extend the maturity date from April  2020 to September  2021,
reduce the credit limit from $27.0 million to $10.0 million, and increase the interest rate applicable
to all amounts
outstanding under the revolver from one-month LIBOR plus 1.3% to one-month LIBOR plus 3.6% or 4.35%. The
Company had $10.0 million outstanding related to the revolving line of credit with Truist Bank as of December 31,
2020.

2021 Debt Financing Activity

On April 30, 2021 the Company entered into the PNC Loan Facility
(“Facility”) which was collateralized by
the Company’s assets and outstanding patient accounts receivable. The Facility is guaranteed on a limited basis by
the Company and shareholder of AON Partners and Partners of Maryland. The Facility is
interest- only with total
principal due upon maturity on April 30, 2024. Interest accrues at one-month LIBOR or an alternate base rate plus
1.45%. The Company received $65.0 million in proceeds (less related fees) under the Facility. The Company
utilized
$34.6 million of the proceeds to pay off the Truist Term Loans and Truist Revolver. The remaining funds were made
available for working capital and acquisitions of additional physician practices. The Company paid approximately
$1.4 million in interest payments in 2021.

On April 30, 2021, the Company also entered into a $5.0 million
revolving line of credit agreement (“PNC Line
of Credit”). The PNC Line of Credit has an expiration date of April 30, 2024 and bears interest at a rate per annum
equal to the sum of the daily LIBOR rate plus 1.65% or an alternate base rate plus
.65% and is due on the first day of
each month beginning June 1, 2021. Any outstanding principal and accrued interest will be due on the expiration
date. Beginning July 1, 2021, quarterly bank fees equal to 1.65% per day per annum will be due in
arrears and will
continue on the first day of each quarter thereafter. All debt related to the PNC Line of Credit is collateralized by the
Company’s assets. From the date the PNC Line of Credit was executed through December 31, 2021, no draws had
been made.

On July  29, 2021, the Company amended the PNC Loan Facility
 increasing the Facility Limit from
$65.0 million to $75.0 million.

2022 Debt Financing Activity

In 2022, the Company amended the PNC Facility and Line of Credit
 agreements. The primary changes
included an increase of the Facility limit from $75.0 million to $125.0 million, a decrease of the PNC Line of Credit
amount from $5.0  million to $1.0  million, interest charges to be calculated based on the
 Bloomberg Short-Term
Bank Yield Index plus 1.65% and certain financial covenants. As part of the amendments, the Company drew an
additional $16.3 million in proceeds under the Facility.

The total amount outstanding under the PNC Facility as of September
30, 2023 and December 31, 2022 was
$81.3 million, at an interest rate of 7.14% as of September 30, 2023. No amounts were drawn down on the PNC
Line of Credit as of September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022.

2023 Sale of Class C Equity

On April 27, 2023, AON and the AON Class C Preferred Investor
entered into a Unit Purchase Agreement,
which they subsequently amended and restated on June  7, 2023 (as amended, the “Unit Purchase Agreement”),
which provides for an investment of at least $65.0 million with an option to increase the investment
to $75.0 million
in connection with the issuance of AON Class C Convertible Preferred Units (“AON Class C Units”) to the AON
Class C Preferred Investor.

Pursuant to the Unit Purchase Agreement, on June 7, 2023, the AON
Class C Preferred Investor purchased, and
AON issued and sold to the AON Class C Preferred Investor, 2,459 AON Class C Units at an aggregate purchase
price of $65.0 million. Under the Unit Purchase Agreement, the AON Class C Preferred Investor
has an option to
purchase an additional 378 AON Class C Units until the closing of the Business Combination (the “Closing”), at a
purchase price of $26,432 per Unit. This option was not exercised and expired as of the Closing of the Business
Combination. In connection with the Class C Unit sale, AON LLC amended and restated its operating agreement, to
among other things, authorize 2,837 AON LLC Class C Units of which 2,459 were outstanding as of June 30, 2023
to the
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AON Class C Preferred Investor. The AON LLC Class C Units were reclassified into AON
LLC Series A Preferred
Units as of September 20, 2023, the Closing Date. Concurrently, New AON issued a number of shares of New AON
Series A Preferred Stock equal to the number of AON Series A Preferred Units held by the AON Class C Preferred
Investor to AEA Growth Management LP, the parent of AON Class C Preferred Investor (“AEA Growth”) in
exchange for all the shares of common stock held by AEA Growth in the AON Class C Preferred Investor. Promptly
after the First Step, the AON
Class C Preferred Investor merged with and into New AON whereby the separate
existence of the AON Class C Preferred Investor ceased and New AON held all the AON Series A Preferred Units.

2023 Debt Financing Activity

On June  30, 2023, the Company entered into Amendment No. 7 to its
 PNC Loan Facility which primarily
extended the maturity date of the Facility from April 30, 2024 to June 30, 2026.

Cash Flows

Historical information regarding sources of cash and capital
 expenditures in recent periods and analysis of
those sources and uses is provided below.

Cash flows for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022 were
as follows:

 
Nine Months Ended 


September 30, Change

(dollars in
thousands) 2023 2022 $ %

Net cash (used) provided by in operations $ (6,160) $ 1,630 $ (7,790) (477.9)%

Net cash used in investing activities (24,673) (13,059) (11,614) 88.9%

Net cash provided by financing activities 55,560 15,758 39,802 252.6%

Cash flows from operating activities

Net cash used in operating activities was $6.2  million during the
 nine months ended September  30, 2023
compared to $1.6 million provided by operations for the comparable period for 2022. The $7.8 million period over
period decrease in cash from operations was primarily attributable to:

• The operating cash flows period over period were positively impacted by a $16.4 million improvement in
net changes to working
capital components.

• The impacts from changes in the Medicare advance payments liability, which had no impact on cash flows
in the nine month period
ended September 30, 2023, but had a $3.7 negative impact in the nine-month
period ended September 30, 2022.

• These improvements above were offset by a $28.0 million reduction in cash provided by net loss including
the effects of
non-cash reconciling items.

Cash flows from investing activities

Net cash used in investing activities was $24.7  million for the nine
 months ended September  30, 2023
compared to $13.1 million for the comparable period for 2022. The increase in cash used period over period was
primarily attributable to the following:

• Purchases of marketable securities for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 of $20.8 million were
offset by sales of
marketable securities of $4.9  million. Purchases of marketable securities for the nine
months ended September 30, 2022 were $11.9 million offset by sales of $2.0 million during this period.
This difference resulted in a $6.0 million
increase in cash used between periods.

• The $4.5  million increase in purchases of property and equipment during the nine months ended
September 30, 2023 compared to
2022 further increased the cash used between periods. Proceeds from
disposals of property in the prior period of $1.1  million also contributed to the increase in cash used
between periods.

Cash flows from financing activities

Net cash provided by financing activities was $55.6 million for the
nine months ended September 30, 2023
compared to net cash provided of $15.8 million for the comparable period for 2022. The period over period increase
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in cash flows from financing activities was primarily attributable to the issuance
of Class C Units which resulted in
net proceeds of $64.2 million and proceeds received from the Reverse Recapitalization of $1.5 million. This was
offset by distributions to Class  A and A-1 members of $9.5  million paid in connection with the
 Business
Combination. The increase in 2023 was further offset by the reduction in borrowings on long-term debt, which were
$16.3 million in the prior period and $0.0 during the nine months ended September 30, 2023. There were no debt
repayments
during the period ended September 30, 2023.

Off Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of November 17, 2023, AON does not have any off-balance sheet
arrangements that have or are reasonably
likely to have a current or future effect on our financial condition, changes in financial condition, revenues or
expenses, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources that
are material to investors. The
term “off-balance sheet arrangement” generally means any transaction, agreement or other contractual arrangement
to which an entity unconsolidated with AON is a party, under which it has any obligation arising under
a guarantee
contract, derivative instrument or variable interest or a retained or contingent interest in assets transferred to such
entity or similar arrangement that serves as credit, liquidity or market risk support for such assets.

AON does not engage in off-balance sheet financing arrangements.

Material Cash Requirements

Based on the Company’s borrowings under the long-term debt
 arrangement as of September  30, 2023, the
Company expects future cash outflows related to interest expense (based on Bloomberg Short-Term Bank Yield
Index rate of 7.14% as of September 30, 2023) of $1.4 million for the remainder of 2023 and
$5.8 million in 2024.

The Company also expects a cash outflow of $81.3 million related to
the repayment of principal when the PNC
Loan Facility matures in June of 2026.

The Company expects the following cash flows related to operating
 leases with third parties: $1.0 million in
2023, $8.4  million in 2024, $7.4  million in 2025, $7.0  million in 2026, $5.8  million in 2027, and $21.1  million
thereafter.

The Company expects the following cash flows related to operating
leases with related parties: $0.6 million in
2023, $2.4  million in 2024, $2.3  million in 2025, $2.4  million in 2026, $2.3  million in 2027, and $3.0  million
thereafter.

Cash outflows related to certain vendor contracts with committed
 expenditures are expected to total
approximately $2.3 million. The timing of the expenditures is as follows: $0.8 million in 2023, and $1.5 million in
2024.

The Company does not have any significant supply or other
 arrangements which result in material cash
requirements other than as described above.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been
 prepared in accordance with GAAP. The
preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets
 and
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the
reporting periods. Significant estimates and assumptions are involved in the calculation of the Company’s allowance
for
 contractual adjustments and allowances for uncollectible on accounts receivable, liabilities for provider
compensation, and accrued insurance claim reserves. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Private Warrants

The fair value of the Private Placement Warrants was determined
using Level 3 inputs. The fair value of the
Private Placement Warrants was estimated using the Black-Scholes Option Pricing model using the following inputs
a) expected annual dividend b) expected volatility c) risk-free rate of return d)
 expected option term and e)
underlying stock price.

Variable Interest Entities

AOMC is a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company and neither AOMC
nor the Company has ownership
interest in AON Partners and Partners of Maryland. Both AON Partners and Partners of Maryland are fully owned

18





by physicians. The Company operates its physician practices through the MSAs and
other contractual agreements
between AOMC, AON Partners, and Partners of Maryland. The responsibilities of AOMC include, but are not
limited to negotiating provider and payor contracts, employment and compensation decisions, billing and
collections, furnishing all supplies and equipment necessary for the respective practice’s operations as well as,
necessary real estate, contracting on behalf of AON Partners and Partners of Maryland, entering into leases, holding
a power of
attorney to perform the above activities, preparing, maintaining and administering all accounting records
(including financial reporting), expense payment, and maintenance of all information systems/software. The
Company is paid a management fee
to compensate AOMC for the services provided. AON Central Services is 80%
physician owned and 20% owned by AON LLC. AOMC entered into an agreement with AON Central Services,
effective January 1, 2023, for AOMC to provide qualified non-clinical
 and non-medical employees to AOMC to
support the operation of the physician practices. AOMC pays a monthly management fee to AON Central Services
equal to the aggregate cost of compensation, benefits and all other costs related to these
employees.

Based on various quantitative and qualitative factors, including
assessment of certain services performed and
relationships held above, management has determined that AON Partners, Partners of Maryland and AON Central
Services are all variable interest entities and AOMC is the primary beneficiary who holds the
decision-making rights
over the activities that most significantly impact AON Partners, Partners of Maryland and AON Central Services’
economic performance through the MSAs and other contractual agreements. Accordingly, the results of AON
Partners, Partners of Maryland and AON Central Services have been consolidated with the Company for all periods
presented. During the first quarter of 2023, Meaningful Insights Biotech Analytics, LLC (“MIBA”) was established
which is also
considered a VIE; however, as of September 30, 2023, it had immaterial activity.

Segment Reporting

Operating segments are identified as components of an enterprise
 about which separate discrete financial
information is available for evaluation by the chief operating decision-maker (the “CODM”). The Company’s
CODM is its chief executive officer who reviews financial information together with certain
 operating metrics
principally to make decisions about how to allocate resources and to measure the Company’s performance. The
Company has one operating segment and one reportable segment that are structured around the organizational
management of
oncology practice operations. All revenues and assets are in the United States.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognized under Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”)
2014-09 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (“Topic 606”). The Company determines the transaction price based upon standard charges for goods and
services with anticipated consideration due from patients, third-party payors (including health
 insurers and
government agencies) and others. The Company’s revenue is primarily derived from patient service revenues, which
encompass oncology services provided during patient encounters and shipments of pharmacy prescriptions.
Performance
obligations for the Company’s services provided to patients and most procedures, are satisfied over the
time of visit which is the same day services are performed. Performance obligations relating to pharmacy revenue
are considered fully
 satisfied at a point in time upon the customer receiving delivery of the prescription.
Accordingly, the Company does not anticipate a significant amount of revenue from performance obligations
satisfied (or partially satisfied) in previous
periods.

As services are performed and prescriptions are shipped, timely
 billing occurs for services rendered and
prescriptions shipped less discounts provided to uninsured patients and contractual adjustments to third-party payors
based upon prospectively determined rates and discounted charges. Payment is requested
at the time of service for
self-paying patients and for patients covered by third-party payors that are responsible for paying deductibles and
coinsurance.

The Company monitors revenue and receivables to prepare estimated
contractual allowances for the anticipated
differences between billed and reimbursed amounts. Payments from third-party payors and Government programs
including Medicare and Medicaid may be subject to audit and other retrospective adjustments.
Such amounts are
considered on an estimated basis when net patient revenue is recorded and are adjusted as final adjustments are
determined.

The Company has a system and estimation process for recording
 Medicare net patient service revenue and
estimated recoupments as it relates to value-based care (“VBC”) revenue included in patient service revenue on the
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss). The Company’s VBC
revenue is
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primarily generated through its participation in the CMS Oncology Care Model (“OCM”)
which is an episode-based
payment model to promote high-quality cancer care. Participants enter six-month episode periods, and the Company
bills a monthly fee during the six-month period based on a fixed rate per participant per month and the
total number
of participants. Certain quality and compliance metrics are tracked as part of the program and submitted to CMS at
the end of the episode period which may result in recoupment of funds. The Company estimates the recoupment
amount by
developing a recoupment percentage for each period based on historical known recoupment from CMS
and applies the recoupment percentage against total fees for the period. Based on the estimate, the Company accrues
a liability representing the
expected final recoupments based on historical settlement trends.

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable from patients are carried at the original charge
 for the services provided, and an
adjustment is made to the receivable in a contra account based on the historical collection rate for the provider and
payor combination. This adjustment takes into consideration any allowance for doubtful
 accounts. Management
determines the allowance for uncollectible accounts based on historical experience.

Business Combinations

The Company evaluates acquired practices in accordance with ASU
 2017-01, Business Combinations
(Topic 805) — Clarifying the Definition of a Business. This standard clarifies the definition of a business with the
objective of adding guidance to assist entities with evaluating whether transactions should be
 accounted for as
acquisitions or disposals of assets or businesses. Because substantially all of the value of each acquired practice did
not relate to a similar group of assets and as each acquired practice contained both inputs and processes
necessary to
provide economic benefits to the Company, it was determined that each acquisition represents a business
combination. Therefore, the transactions have been accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting, which
requires, with
limited exceptions, that assets acquired, and liabilities assumed be recognized at their estimated fair
values as of the acquisition date. Any excess of the consideration transferred over the estimated fair values of the net
assets acquired is
 recorded as goodwill. Transaction costs related to business combinations are expensed in the
period in which they are incurred.

Leases

The Company’s lease portfolio primarily consists of office and
equipment leases for its practice facilities. The
Company evaluates whether a contract is or contains a lease at contract inception. A lease exists when a contract
conveys to the customer the right to control the use of identified property or
 equipment for a period of time in
exchange for consideration. The definition of a lease embodies two conditions: 1) there is an identified asset in the
contract that is land or a depreciable asset (i.e., property, plant, and equipment); and 2)
the customer has the right to
control the use of the identified asset. ASC 842 requires a lessee to discount its unpaid lease payments using the
interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, its incremental
borrowing rate. As the
Company’s operating leases do not generally provide an implicit rate, the incremental borrowing rate is used based
on the information available at commencement date in determining the present value of lease payments. The
incremental borrowing rate for a lease is the rate of interest the Company would have to pay on a collateralized basis
to borrow an amount equal to the lease payments under similar terms. The lease term for all of the Company’s
operating leases
include the noncancellable period of the lease plus any additional periods covered by either a lessee
option to extend (or not to terminate) the lease that the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise, or an option to extend
(or not to terminate)
the lease controlled by the lessor. Lease payments included in the measurement of the operating
lease right-of-use (“ROU”) assets and lease liabilities are comprised of fixed payments (including in- substance
fixed payments), variable payments
 that depend on an index or rate, and the exercise price of a lessee option to
purchase the underlying asset if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise.

The operating lease ROU assets are initially measured at cost, which
comprises the initial amount of the lease
liability adjusted for lease payments made at or before the lease commencement date, plus any initial direct costs
incurred less any lease incentives received. The operating lease ROU assets are
subsequently measured throughout
the lease term at the carrying amount of the lease liability, plus initial direct costs, plus (minus) any prepaid
(accrued) lease payments, less the unamortized balance of lease incentives received. Lease expense
 for lease
payments is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The operating lease liabilities are initially
measured at the present value of the unpaid lease payments at the lease commencement date.
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Professional Liability

The Company maintains an insurance policy for exposure to
professional malpractice insurance risk beyond
selected retention levels. Reserves are established for estimates of the loss that will ultimately be incurred on claims
that have been reported but not paid and claims that have been incurred but
 not reported. These reserves are
established based on consultation with a third-party actuary. The actuarial valuations consider a number of factors,
including historical claims payment patterns, changes in case reserves and the assumed rate of
increase in healthcare
costs. Management believes the use of actuarial methods to account for these reserves provides a consistent and
effective way to measure these subjective accruals. However, due to the sensitive nature of this estimation
technique,
recorded reserves could differ from ultimate costs related to these claims due to changes in claims reporting, claims
payment and settlement practices and differences in assumed future cost increases. Accrued unpaid claims and
expenses
that are expected to be paid within the next twelve months are classified as current liabilities and included
in accrued other. All other accrued unpaid claims and expenses are classified as long-term liabilities and included in
other long-term
liabilities. Insurance recoveries associated with the unpaid claims are classified as long-term assets
included in other assets.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in the principal or
most advantageous market in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date.

Accounting guidance establishes a three-level hierarchy, which
 requires an entity to maximize the use of
observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs when measuring fair value. The valuation hierarchy
is based upon the transparency of inputs to the valuation of an asset or liability on the
measurement date. The three
levels are defined as follows:

Level 1



Inputs to the valuation methodology are quoted prices (unadjusted) for an identical asset or liability
in an active market.

Level 2



Inputs to the valuation methodology include quoted prices for a similar asset or liability in an
active market or model-derived
 valuations in which all significant inputs are observable for
substantially the full term of the asset or liability.

Level 3



Inputs to the valuation methodology are unobservable and significant to the fair value
measurement of the asset or liability.
This includes certain pricing models, discounted cash flow
methodologies and similar techniques that use significant unobservable inputs.

Assets and liabilities are classified in their entirety based on the
lowest level of input that is significant to the
fair value measurement. The Company’s assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair value
measurement requires judgment and may affect the placement of assets and liabilities
being measured within the fair
value hierarchy.

Our financial instruments include cash, short-term marketable
securities, accounts receivable, notes receivable,
accounts payable, accrued expenses, long-term debt and contractual agreements that resulted in derivative liabilities.
Our nonfinancial assets such as property and equipment are not measured at
fair value on a recurring basis; however,
they are subject to fair value adjustments in certain circumstances, such as when there is evidence that impairment
may exist.

The carrying amounts of cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable,
notes receivable, and accrued expenses
approximate their fair value because of the short-term maturity and highly liquid nature of these instruments. We
determine the fair value of long-term debt and marketable securities based on various factors
 including maturity
schedules and current market rates.

The fair value of our derivative liabilities was determined using
Level 1, Level 2, or Level 3 inputs. The fair
value of derivatives that use Level 3 classified inputs was estimated using the Black-Scholes Option Pricing model.
There were no transfers between any levels of the hierarchy during any periods
presented.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Market risk represents the risk of loss that may impact our
financial position due to adverse changes in financial
market prices and rates. Our market risk exposure is primarily a result of exposure due to potential changes in
inflation or interest rates. We do not hold financial instruments for trading
purposes.
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Interest Rate Risk

Certain of AON’s outstanding indebtedness bears interest at a
floating rate. As a result, AON may be exposed
to fluctuations in interest rates to the extent of its borrowings under these arrangements. AON does not currently
engage in any hedging or derivative instruments to attempt to offset this risk.
Based on the total amount of variable
debt outstanding as of September 30, 2023, if the Bloomberg Short-Term Bank Yield Index increased by 1.0% due
to normal market conditions, AON’s interest expense will increase by approximately $0.8 million
per annum.

AON had $81.3 million of borrowings under loans with variable rates
as of September 30, 2023.

Inflation Risk

The healthcare industry is very labor intensive and salaries and
benefits are subject to inflationary pressures, as
are drug and medical supplies costs, medical equipment and other costs. The nationwide shortage of nurses and
other clinical staff and support personnel has been a significant operating issue
 facing us and other healthcare
providers. In particular, like others in the healthcare industry, we have experienced a shortage of nurses and other
clinical staff and support personnel in certain geographic areas, which was largely driven by the
 COVID-19
pandemic. Nationally, the increase demand for healthcare workers has in some regions, required us to offer one-time
retention bonuses, pay premium wages above standard compensation for essential workers, and even utilize higher
cost
temporary labor. This staffing shortage may require us to further enhance wages and benefits to recruit and
retain nurses and other clinical staff and support personnel or require us to hire expensive temporary personnel. We
have also experienced
 cost increases related to the procurement of medical supplies and equipment as well as
construction of new facilities and additional capacity added to existing facilities. Our ability to pass on increased
costs associated with providing
healthcare to Medicare and Medicaid patients is limited due to various federal, state
and local laws which have been enacted that, in certain cases, limit our ability to increase prices.

We minimize the impact of inflation on our labor, drug, and supply
costs primarily through maintaining strong
relationship with our suppliers and GPO and renegotiated contracts with our payors. In addition, AOP has a
Pharmacy and Therapeutics Committee (“P&T Committee”) that meets biweekly to evaluate and
 modify the
preferred drug formulary. The P&T Committee considers the following in its formulary recommendations: 1)
evidence-based research demonstrating favorable clinical outcomes of such treatment; 2) potential adverse events or
side
effects of such treatment; and 3) cost of such treatment to the applicable stakeholder (patient and payor).
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